This dissertation has been 63-2652 microfilmed exactly as received

GILL, Harjeet Singh, 1935-A DESCRIPTIVE GRAMMAR OF PANJABI.

The Hartford Seminary Foundation Ph.D., 1962 Language and Literature, linguistics

University Microfilms, Inc., Ann Arbor, Michigan

A DESCRIPTIVE GRAMMAR OF PANJABI

A THESIS

Submitted to

THE HARTFORD SEMINARY FOUNDATION
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the degree of
DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Harjeet Singh Gill

Hartford, Connecticut May, 1962

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	Page 1
VITA	5
INTRODUCTION	3
CHAPTER	
1. PHONEMICS	12
1. Phonemic Table	13
1.1. Vowels	14
1.2. Consonants	19
1.3. Nasalization	30
1.h. Tones	31
1.5. Juncture	41
1.6. Intonation	41
2. MORPHOPHONEMICS	43
2.1. Morphemic Classes	<u>አ</u> 4
2.2. Morphophonamic Rules	44
2.3. Paradigms of Nouns	46
2.4. Number	117
2.5. Case	50
2.6. Numerals	5 5
2.7. Gender	57
2.8. Verbals	59
2.9. Paradigma of Verbs	61

	2.10. Present Tense	63
	2.11. Present Perfect	65
	2.12. Past Tense	65
	2.13. Past Perfect	69
	2.11. Future Tense	70
	2.15. Imperative	73
	2.16. Polite Imperative	74
	2.17. Hortative	74
	2.18. Optative	77
	2.19. Conditional Infinitive	77
	2.20. Imperfect Infinitive	78
	2.21. Obligatory	78
	2.22. Correlatives	79
	2.23. Intonation Morphemes	30
,	CANADAN	83
•	SYNTAX	3.7 8.4
	General Abbreviations	
	Abbreviations for the texts cited	85
	3.1. Pronouns	87
	3.2. Adjectives	88
	3.3. Postpositions	92
	3.4. Connectives	103
	3.5. Emphasis	104
	3.6. Negatives	120

3.7.	Adverbs	155
3.8.	Noun Phrases	125
3.9.	Verb Phrases	132
3.10.	Sentence Concord	153
3.11.	Coordinates and Coordination	164
3.12.	The two levels of syntax - spoken	
	and written	178
BIBLIOG	RAPHY	211



FOREWORD

In this essay an attempt has been made to present a structural description of the standard Panjabi language, both spoken and written, based on the Majhi /maji/ dialect of the Amritsar area.

The entire study was conducted under the direction of my ordinarius, Dr. Henry Allan Gleason, Jr., to whom I am extremely grateful. Sincere gratitude is also due to the following:

to Dr. Ford Lewis Battles, Academic Dean, for encouragement throughout the research period and specifically for the discussions I have had with him on the problem of 'coordination' in syntax,

to Dr. J. Maurice Hohlfeld, Chairman of the Council for Advanced Studies, and Miss Flola Shepard, Theses Supervisor, for going over my dissertation in its final stage and making many a helpful suggestion,

and finally to Dr. Mohan Singh Dewana of the Panjab University, India, for his constant help and searching criticism during several years of my close contact with him.

I am indebted to the Panjab University, India, Committee on Asian Languages, and the United States Department of Education (under National Defence Education Act) for the research fellowships which enabled me to pursue my linguistic studies at Decean College, Poona, India, and at this school.

This dissertation is presented to Ajit Singh Aulakh as a token of friendship and esteem.

VITA

Harjeet Singh Gill, son of Opar Singh Gill and Gurcharn Kaur Dhillon, was born in 1935 in Amritsar, India. He graduated from Khalsa Collegiate High School, Amritsar, in 1949. In 1953, he received the B.A. degree from Khalsa College, Amritsar, Panjab University. He was awarded Bhai Dit Singh Gold Medal for standing first in an examination in Sikh Theology and History in 1954. In 1955, he received the M.A. degree in Panjabi Language and Literature from Government College, Ludhiana, Panjab University, and soon after he was appointed University Research Scholar in Panjabi to work under Dr. Mohan Singh Dewana. In 1957-58, he represented the Panjab University at Deccan College, Poona, for intensive training in descriptive and historical linguistics under Professors H. A. Gleason, Jr., A. M. Ghatage, P. B. Pandit, and others. In 1959, he came to this school and since then he has been studying here.

INTRODUCTION

O.1. Panjabi is one of the Indo-Aryan languages. According to a recent survey! it is spoken by 36 million people in both East Panjab (India) and West Panjab (Pakisten). Along with Hindi, it is the official language of the East Panjab. This study attempts to present a descriptive grammar of the standard Panjabi language, based on the /maji/ dialect of the Amritsar area. /maji/ is the prestige dialect; other dialects are: /duabi/ - Jullundhur and Hoshiarpur districts, /malw1/ - Ludhiana district, /petralwi/ - Patiala and Sangrur districts (East Panjab); and /laelpuri/ - Layalpur and Gujranwala districts, /multan1/ - Multan district, /puthoar1/ -Rawalpindi district, /hindko/ - Hazara district (West Panjab). All these dialects of Western Panjab are sometimes grouped under the name 'Lahnda' and are considered a separate branch. This classification is highly questionable. Since there has been no scientific survey of the Panjabi dialects, no finer details can be given at this stage.

^{1.} Voeglin, C.F., and F.M., Languages now spoken by over a million speakers, Anthropological Linguistics, Indiana University, Vol. 3. No. 8. pp. 13-22. 1961.

- O.2. Script. Panjabi is usually written in the Gurmukhi script, a development from Devanagri, the script for Sanskrit and Hindi. The Muslim writers of Panjabi employ Persian script. Since some very significant literature is produced by the Muslims, Persian script has been a very important medium for Panjabi. Gurmukhi, however, is the sole medium of writing for the modern literature in India.
- 0.3. History. Panjabi has passed through four main stages:
- (a) Old Panjabi. This period is not very well marked. Roughly speaking, it begins with the eleventh century A.D. The standard literary language of this era is based on Western Panjabi, mainly the Multani dialect. The important writers representing this tradition are: Farid I, Ibrahim, Kamal, Gorakhnath, Charpat, Chand, and Khusro.
- (b) Middle Panjabi from the fifteenth to the beginning of the eighteenth century. This period may be called The Age of Nanak. It is the golden age of Panjabi letters. It is in this period that the Panjabi language was developed to express the highest thoughts in theology in the simplest possible manner. The most important date in the history of the Panjabi language is A.D. 1604 when Guru Arjuna edited and compiled the Adi Grantha, the Sikh holy scripture. The

Adi Grantha includes hymns by the Sikh Gurus Nanak, Angad,
Amardas, Ramdas, Arjuna and one couplet by Guru Gobind Singh.
Also there are hymns by a number of Muslim and Hindu saints
including Kabir, Farid, and Namadeva. These hymns are composed
in classical Indian meters. All stages of the Panjabi language upto that time are represented in this voluminous work.
It is the beginning of the standardization of the Panjabi
language based on the /maji/ dialect of Amritsar and Lahore
districts. Another very important writer of this period is
the Muslim Sufi poet, Shah Hussain of Lahore.

(c) Middle Panjabi - from the beginning of eighteenth century to the end of nineteenth century. In this period two types of literary activity were going on. There were Muslim writers of romances who brought in a large number of Arabic-Persian words, and a very powerful stream of secular literature. The other group was composed of Sikh writers who were working on theological treatises and theologically based popular writings. Their language was also based on the dialect of Amritsar district but it was heavily overcast with Sanskrit loan words and grammatical influences from the common language of the Sadhus of north India, called Sadh Bhakha. The important writers of this age for the romances are: Waris, Ahmad Yar, and Hashim; and for theological works:

- (d) Modern Panjabi beginning with the twentieth century. The modern literature has been heavily influenced by the Western literatures, mainly Enlish. In recent years the leftist writers have been pondering over Russian literature for their inspiration. Panjabi has undergone further standardization in this period. Some of the representative writers are: Dit Singh, Wir Singh, Dhani Ram Chatrik, Miran Shahai Muhammad Buta, Sardha Ram, Puran Singh, Mohan Singh Dewana, Ishwar Chandar Nanda, Sant Singh Sekhon, Gurbax Singh, Balwant Rae Gargi, Mohan Singh Mahir, Pritam Singh Safir, and Nanak Singh.
- O.4. Literature. There is not much literature on Panjabi grammar. T. Grahame Bailey's A Panjabi Phonetic Reader.

 London, 1913, was the first attempt to transcribe Panjabi speech. Mohan Singh Dewana's Panjabi Language and Prosody,

 Lahore, 1937; Banarsi Dass Jain's A Phonology of Panjabi and a Ludhiani Phonetic Reader, Lahore, 1934; and Kali Charn Bahal's short artice, Tones in Panjabi, Indian Linguistics,

 Volume 17, pp. 139-47, 1957, are studies devoted only to the

^{2.} For further information on this subject, refer to A History of Panjabi Literature, by Mohan Singh Dewans, second edition, Amritsan, 1956.

phonology of Panjabi. On Panjabi grammar, we have, wm. St.
Clair Tisdall's Panjabi Language, Calcutta, 1889, an extremely brief outline; T. Grahame Bailey's Panjabi Manual and Grammaar, 1912, a very short sketch accompanying the manual; and finally there is a more detailed work, Panjabi Vyakarn,
Amritsar, 1935, in Panjabi, by Karam Singh Gangawala.
Gangawala has described Panjabi in traditional categories.
The classifications are based entirely on semantic criteria.
He has barely touched the syntax and has not even attempted to decribe the phonology. His Vyakarn has been printed several times, in different forms, to meet the needs of the primary and high school students. In mecent years, there have been numerous high school grammars based on Gangawala's Vyakarn. None of them show any original research.

O.5. Phonemics. Some very important/has already been done on panjabi phonology (referred to in O.4.). However, this is the first comprehensive statement in terms of phonemics. The salient feature of this section is the analysis of 'tones'. In this thesis, I have given a summary of my paper, Panjabi Tonemics, where I have discussed the interrelationship of

tone and intonation. A full scale attack on this problem has never been launched before either in Panjabi or in any other language. My paper is by no means the final answer to this very complicated but extremely important phenomenon in 'tone' or 'stress' languages. All the same, it opens a new field of enquiry. As Gleason has pointed out in a recent review, it has a strong bearing even on English phonology. He says:

A third type [the other two being Zulu and Ewe] of tone-intonation is heard in Panjabi. Here tone and into-nation are cumulative... English is not greatly different. 'Stress' has a very strong component of pitch, and this pitch is heard as added to that of the into-nation. It has been popular to consider the pitch features in 'stress' as quite minor but this may be largely illusion.

O.6. Morphophonemics. Gangawala's <u>Vyakar</u>n is the only work of any value in this field. His <u>Vyakarn</u> does not give

^{3.} Anthropological Linguistics, Volume 2. No. 6. pp. 11-18. 1960., a publication of the Archives of the Languages of the World, Indiana University, Indiana.

^{4.} Gleason, H.A., Jr., Review of African Language Studies I, edited by Malcolm Guthrie, London, 1960, and The Role of tone in the structure of Sukuma, by I. Richardson, London, 1959, in Language Volume 37, No. 2. p. 299. 1961.

werbs and nouns. Hence this chapter in my dissertation is largely a new presentation. Moreover, since 'tone' and 'intonation' were not recognised by Gangawala, the tonal and intonational morphemes are added features. As already pointed out, Gangawala did not describe phonology even though there were some excellent studies before he wrote his <u>Vyaker</u>n. Refer to 0.4.

O.7. Syntax. There has been no study of Panjabi syntax except a few references in Gangawala's <u>Yyakarn</u> and the recent grammars based on it. The structural approach employed in this dissertation is a very recent development in linguistics.

Most of the analyses given in this section are new in any Indo-Aryan language, e.g., 'emphatics', 'negatives', 'coordination', 'the two levels of syntax - spoken and written' etc.

In this study, I have made use of the spoken language of the Amritsar area and the written language, based on this speech, represented by important Panjabi writers of the last thirty years or so. It covers all types of literature: essays, short stories, plays, novels, and biography. An attempt has been made to present the structure of the standard colloquial /máji/ supplemented by the standard written language with

differences and improvisations duly noted. There is a deep cleavage in the sentence patterns of the spoken and the written varieties. This is discussed in section 3.12.

Another very important phenomenon which is not adequately discussed in this thesis is the 'coordination patterns' within a Panjabi sentence with intervening /,/ and the general coordination among sentences in a paragraph and between two paragraphs. These coordinate patterns are described in section 3.11. Since there have been very few studies in this field in any language, the generalisations made here are preliminary and require a very thorough groundwork before any positive results can be achieved. However, we feel that within the limits of this dissertation, we have presented enough evidence to prove the import of the phenomenon of 'coordination'. In section 3.11., coordination of phrases in a coordinate sentence is demonstrated by a large number of sentences from literature and from tape recordings. section 3.12., we have given six texts: two dialogues from modern plays, two paragraphs from representative Panjabi writers, with stylistic differences, and finally two oral texts from tape recordings. All the sentences in section 3.12. are analysed from two points of view: phrase structure and immediate constituents.

O.8. This dissertation is preliminary to our 'Reference Grammar' which will be published very soon and where we intend to give a comparative study of Panjabi and Hindi. We offer our sincere thanks to all those who helped us bring out this first structural grammar of the Panjabi language.

P H O N E M I C S

1. Phonemic Table

(a) Vowels

	front	unround	led	centi	ral uni	rounde	đ	back re	ounded
high		1						u	
lower	high	ı						ប	
mid		е			0			o	
low		m.			a			Ø,	
(d)	onsonar	nts							
			I	II	III	IV	Λ	VI	
atops,	voice	eless	ď,	t	c	<u>t</u>	k		
	voice	∍đ	ъ	đ	3	<u>d</u>	g		
aspira	ates,	vls	ph	th	ch	<u>t</u> h	kh		
fricat	tives,	vls	(f)	8		š			
		vcd		(z)				h	
later	als	vcd		1		<u>1</u>			
nasal	30	vcd	m	n	ñ	<u>n</u>	ŋ		
flaps		vcd		r		r			
(c) 3	emivow	els							
			W		y /				
T h	47ah4a	٦.							

- I. bilabial:
- II. dental
- III. palatal
 - IV. retroflex
 - V. velar
 - VI. glottal

- (d) Nasalization /~/
- (e) Tones
 - 1. Low / '/
 - 2. Mid / -/
 - 3. High / 1/
- (f) Intonation Pitches

/1/, /2/, /3/. /3/ is the highest pitch.

(g) Juncture

Marked by space between words.

- (h) Terminal Contours
 - 1. Level /,/
 - 2. Rising / ///
 - 3. Falling / # /

Total 50 + (2)

1.1 Vowels

1.1.1 Description

1. Vowels are lax in a syllable of high tone and are tense in a syllable of low tone:

/mér/ 'grace', /kèra/ 'circle'.

2. Vowels are relatively longer in syllables with mid tone than with high tone. Furthermore, they are longer in syllables with low tone than with mid tone: $[\mathring{v}]$, $[\mathring{v}]$.

3. /e/ and /a/ tend towards the front position before front consonants and towards back before back consonants:

/mat/ 'roof'
/cat/ 'wheel'
/rat/ 'night'
/wak/ 'speech'

1.1.2 Distribution

/e I u/ do not occur word finally except in /k5/ 'about', /c5/ 'in', /kI/ 'that', and /kū/ 'about'. /e I u/ may be called vowels of Class I.

/i e mau o o/ do not occur before geminate clusters.
They may be called vowels of Class II.

1.1.3 Phonemic Contrasts

```
/e a/ /mān / 'a maund'

/mān / 'pride'

/ākh/ 'eye'

/ākh/ 'say'(V.)'

/u u o o/ /ūth/ 'camel'

/ūth/ 'stand'(V.)'

/sūr/ 'pig'

/sūr/ 'tune'

/mōri/ 'hole'

/mōri/ 'scar'

/rō/ 'weep'(V.)

/rō/ 'wave'

/o a/ /ōkh/ 'difficulty'

/ākh/ 'say'(V.)'

/pō/ 'put'(V.)'
```

1.1.A Vowel Sequences

There are three types of vowel sequences.

- l. Where both the members belong to Glass I:

 /ie/ /wiðng/ 'trick.' This is a true dipthong
 and the word is monosyllabic.
- 2. Where the first number belongs to Class I and the Ih second to Class II. These are dipthongs and form one syllable:

3. Where both the members belong to Glass II. These are distillable:

```
/kurie/ '0, girl'
/ie/
      /niuna/ to bow!
/1u/
/e1/
    /toi/ 'twenty-three'
/u1/
     /sūi/ 'neodle'
/ue/
        /oue/
                 'rats'
              'father's sister'
/ua/
      /pua/
    /181/ 'blanket'
/01/
/ce/ /roe/ 'wept'
/ou/
        /khou/
                 'shall snatch'
/oa/
        /toa/
                'pit'
```

/ai/ /pāi/ 'put'
/ae/ /lāe/ 'attached'
/au/ /jáu/ 'shall go'
/ao/ /láo/ 'detach'

1.1.5 Glides

- 1. Where V_1 is a front vowel, there is a slight homogenic transition $\{y\}$ between the two vowels.
- 2. Where V_1 is either /u/ or /u/, there is a slight homographic transition [W 7 between the two vowels.
- 3. Where V_1 is either of the two vowels /o/, /a/ —

 (a) if V_2 is a front vowel, there is a slight homogenic transition [y_7 ;
- (b) if V_2 is a back vowel, there is a slight homographic transition [W].

These glides are fully predictable and hence should not be written in a phonemic transcription. /y/ does not occur in the positions where [y] occurs, nor /w/ in the positions of [w]. There is, therefore no contrast of these glides with similar semivowels. However, /w/ does contrast with the [y] glide:

[dIve] /dIve/ 'lamps'

1-16 Vowel Sequence Table

	I	Θ	υ	1	0	an	u	0	0	8.
I		19						IO	IO	18
9				e1	96		eu			
U										UB
1					ie		iu			
•				ei						
Ω1										
u				u 1	ue					ua
.o .				oi	00		ou			OB.
0										
8.				a1	88		au	ao		

1.2. Consonants

After vowels of Class I, all stops tend to be lax in medial position, unless geminated:

```
/sīṭia/ 'heated' /nīkki/ 'small'

/līkhia/ 'written' (mas. Sing)' /līkkhi/ 'written' (fem.sing.)

/wīkia/ 'sold' (mas. Sing)' /pēkki/ 'ripe'

/mēgerla/ 'latter' /méggi/ 'pot'

/khēpia/ wearied' /khēppi/ 'talkatīve'

/lūkia/ 'hidden' /mūkka/ 'fist'

/mujāra/ 'tenant' /sūja/ 'swollen'
```

```
All consonants, in final position, have a vocalic release:
[0" 1 /0/.
\frac{n}{n} \frac{1}{n} \frac{1}{n} do not occur word initially.
/n/ does not occur word finally.
/h/ occurs only word initially.
1.2.1. Phonemic Contrasts
labials /p b m/ /pūra/
                         'complete'
                  /būra/ 'brown'
                  /mura/ 'chair'
                  /lappi/ 'gathered with hands'
                  /lébbi/ 'found'
                  /l5mmi/ 'long'
                  /cIp/ 'wash'(V.);
                            *bite'(V.)'
                 /c5b/
                 /c5m/ 'leather'
dentals /t d n/ /tar / 'watch' (V.)
                  /dar / 'swallow'
                  /nä<u>r</u> /
                            'vein'
                  /kātti/ 'woven'
                  /k@di/ 'sometimes'
                  /kēnni/ 'corner'
                  /s5t/
                            'seven'
                  /s3d/ 'call'(V.)
                          'a hole made by thieves'
                 /gén/
```

```
palatals /c j/ /cor/
                           thief!
                /jor/ 'strength'
                /rēcia/ 'mixed'
                /rājjis/ 'contented'
                /k3c/ 'glass'
                /k81/
                          'cover'
retroflexes
     /<u>t d n</u> / /mō<u>t</u>i/ 'fat'
                /modi/ 'leader'
                /moni/ Mohani - a name of a boy
                /chāt / 'a big bag'
                /chād / 'leave'
                /chan / 'get filtered'
dentals and retroflexes
    /t <u>t</u> / /tīr/
                          'arrow'
                /tir/ 'squint eye'
                /moti/ 'pearl'
                /moti/
                           'fat'
                /15t/
                          'wool*
                /jāt / 'farmer'
               /dan / 'charity'
     /a <u>a</u> /
                dán /
                         branch!
                /édd1/
                       half'
                /5dd1/ 'separated'
```

1

```
/bew/
                                'extra'
                              'cut '(V.)'
                   /wéd /
                             'woolen'
     /n <u>n</u> /
                   /uni/
                   /uni/
                               'not full'
                   /men/
                                'mind'
                                'a maund'
                   /mē<u>n</u> /
aspirates and non-aspirates
                                'a moment'
     /p ph/
                   /p5<u>l</u> /
                   /ph8<u>l</u> /
                               'fruit'
                   /j uppa/
                              'yoked'
                   /jappha/ 'stronghold'
                                'plaster'
                   /lep/
                   /lēph/
                                'mattress'
                                'tank'
                   /tal /
     /t th/
                   /thal / 'a big dish'
                   /pētti/ 'a leaf'
                   /p@tthi/
                                'plastered'
                                'blodd'
                   /rāt/
                   /rāth/
                                'chargiot'
                   /tika/ 'injection'
      /<u>t</u> <u>t</u>h/
                   /thika/
                                'pebble'
                   /mItt1/
                                'soil'
                                'sweet'
                   /mItthi/
```

```
/m5t / 'a big pot'
                /māth/ 'an assembly'
    /c ch/
                /cán1/
                         'a sugar syrup'
                /chani/ wife of a money-lender!
                /m5cci/ 'flared'
                /mēcchi/
                          'fish'
                /wIc/
                           'in'
                /rIch/ 'bear'
    /k kh/
                /kāli/ 'black'
                /khāli/ 'a very small stream'
                /stkka/
                           'dry'
                /sūkkha/ 'an intoxicating drug'
                /sük/ 'dryness'
                          'all right'
                /s tkh/
flaps and retroflexes
    /r d /
                /sāra/
                        'jealousy'
                /sada/ 'ours'
                /mür /
                          turn1(V.):
                /m úd /
                           'root'
    /1 <u>1 r</u> /
                /pāli/ 'name of a girl'
                /pāl1/ 'brought up'
                /pā<u>r</u>i/
                          'tore away'
                           'occupy'
                /m81/
                /m51 / 'rub'
                /mer / 'stick'(V.)
```

aspirate and retroflex

/ch š/ /chēd/ 'hole' /šēr/ 'lion'

Fricatives /f/ and/z/ are used in loan words from Urdu, in standard speech of educated people and in the written language. In colloquial speech, however, these are substituted by /ph/ and /j/:

/foren/ 'at once', colloquial /phoren/ /zor/ 'strength' /jor/

 $/\tilde{n}/$ and $/\eta/$ are very infrequent phonemes. They occur mostly with homogenic stops:

/eñana/ 'child'

/mañna/ 'to brush'

/kāŋan / 'bracelet' /kāŋga/ 'comb'

with homorganic stops

/15mp/ 'lamp'

/5mb/ 'mango'

/s5nt/ 'saint'

/bend/ 'closed'

/kanc/ 'glass'

/sanja/ 'cooperative'

/sēņkra/ 'a hundred unit'

/wliga/ 'crooked'

1: 5

1.2.2. Consonant Clusters

1.2.3. Clusters occurring finally; these clusters function as

"codas". They occur only after vowels of Glass I.

1. stop +	sto p	
/pt/	/capt/	'slap'
/p <u>t</u> /	/kup <u>t</u> /	'disturbance'
/pk/	/15pk/	'leap'
/ <u>t</u> k/	/wa <u>t</u> k/	sale!
/ot/	/bact/	'save'
/ek/	/māck/	'slowly'
/bt/	/zābt/	confiscated t
/bd/	/Bed/	hymn*
/g t/	/pegt/	'saint'
/kht /	/#5kht/	'hard'
2. <u>1</u> + sto	p / sibilant ,	/ nasal
/ <u>l</u> p/	/k5 <u>l</u> p/	"wail"
/ <u>l</u> t/	/g 5<u>l</u>t/	*wrong*
/11/	/hé <u>lt</u> /	'well'

New York

1. Hockett, C.F. A Course in Modern Linguistics./Macmillan,

1958. p. 85.

```
/pelk/
/14/
                                 'a moment'
/<u>l</u>d/
                /bé<u>l</u>d/
                                 'bull'
                /gilj/
/11/
                                 'eagle'
/<u>1</u>kh/
               /mIlkh/
                                 'estate'
/<u>l</u>s/
                /p01s/
                                 'police'
/<u>l</u>m/
               /bá<u>l</u>m/
                                 'spear'
                                 'to meet'
/ln /
               /mIln /
```

3. nasal + stop; hetreganic

/mk/	/comk/	brightness'
/mj/	/rēmj/	'secret note'
/ <u>n</u> k/	/k5 <u>n</u> k/	'wheat'
/ <u>ng</u> /	/eing/	*spark*

4. flap + stop / /s / /1 / nasal

/rt/	/w5rt/	'fast'	
/r <u>t</u> /	/ctr <u>t</u> /	'a drug'	
/rc/	/mIrc/	'pepper'	
/rk/	/ārk/	'elbow'	
/rb/	/c@rb/	'wound'	
/rd/	/k5rd/	'knife'	
/rj/	/g 5 r]/	'thunder'	
/rph/	/berph/	'ice, angw'	
/rth/	/5rth/	'meaning'	

1.2.4. Clusters occuring medially; this section includes only those clusters which function as "interludes".

These clusters may occur after vowels of Class I or II.

1. Geminate clusters of unaspirated phonemes; all except $r \leq n \leq n$ $n \leq n$

/pp/	/toppa/	'stanza'	/tepa/	'to jump'
/tt/	/utter/	'answer'	/ūter/	come down
/ <u>tt</u> /	/h5 <u>tt</u> 1/	*shop*	/h5 <u>t</u> 1/	stopped!
/co/	/bacca/	'child'	/Boed/	*save*
/kk/	/s ükka/	'dry'	/8 ukā/	'dry (V.)'
/bb/	/lébba/	found*	/lebà/	'find'

^{1.} Hookett, C.F. App.cit., p.86.

```
/aa/
      /s5dd1/
                          /s6d1/
                'oalled'
                                  'century'
/da /
                'separated'
      /8<u>dd</u>1/
/jj/ /sējja/ 'right '(side)' /sejā/ 'brush up'
/gg/ /begga/ 'brown' /wega/ 'run'(V.)
/88/
     /kIsse/ 'stories'
                         /kIse/
                                 who
/11/ /dIl11/ 'Delhi'
                          /dIli/ 'heartedly'
/mm/ /k5mmi/ 'worker' /k5mi/:
                                 'weakness'
/nn/
     /cumi/ 'scart'
                         /clmi/ 'picked'
```

2. Geminate-like clusters of aspirate phonemes:

```
/pph/ /jāppha/ 'stronghold'

/tth/ /kāttha/ 'Kattha' /kātha/ 'story'

/tth/ /nāttha/ 'ran'

/cch/ /wāccha/ 'calf'

/kkh/ /sūkkha/ 'a ārug' /sukhā/ 'to suit'
```

3. stop +
$$\frac{1}{2}$$
 / flap

```
/kl / /mōkla/ 'loose'(size)'

/kr/ /nōkri/ 'service'

/dr/ /pådrō/ 'the month /pådrō/, about August'

/jr / /ājri/ 'shepherd'
```

4. Tripartite Clusters

nasal + stop + lateral or flap

```
/ntr/ /sentra/ 'orange'

/nkr / /senkra/ 'a hundred unit'

/mbr/ /lumbri/ 'fox'

/ndr / /jindri/ 'life'

/njl / /wénjli/ 'flute'

/ngl / /sengli/ 'chain'

/ngr / /tengri/ 'bundle'
```

1.2.5. Clusters occurring medially or finally as interludes or codas; these clusters may occur after vowels of class I or II. All of these are of type nasal + stop (homorganic).

```
\gg/
    /15mp/
              'lamp'
/mb/ /5mb/ 'mango' /lümbi/ 'chimney'
/nt/ /5nt/ 'end'
                       /santi/ 'peace'
     /cend/ 'moon'
/nd/
                        /candi/ 'silver'
    /kāñc/ 'glass'
/ñc/
/mj/ /mjmia/ 'cot' /mamiji/ 'brushed'
/nk/ /5nk/ 'chapter' /55nka/
                                'doubt'
/ng/
      /wIng/
              bend!
                        /rangi/
                                'colored'
```

1.2.6. sibilant + stop / nasal; there are two types:

1. Preceded by vowels of Class I, they function as codes:

```
/st/ /m5st/ 'intoxicated'
/sk/ /c5sk/ 'pain'
/sm/ /r5sm/ 'custom'
/št / /k5št / 'hardship'
```

2. Preceded by vowels of class II, the following clusters function as interludes or codas:

/st/ /post/ 'a drug'
/sk/ /boski/ 'silk'
/st / /gosti/ 'dialogue'

1.3. Nasalization of vowels is sometimes predictable. We transcribe only when it is nonpredictable.

Predictable positions:

1. before a nasal

2. following a nasal in word final position, unless accompanied by low tone

Nasalization of vowels when nonpredictable is phonemic and marked:

[kar 'orow' /ka/ [silliar 'wet' /sillia/

1.4. Tones

There are three contrastive tonal contours heard as follows in citation forms:

Low tone - low onset followed by a higher pitch rising to mid level / \(^{\}\).

Mid tone - mid level pitch followed by a higher pitch / -/.

High tone - rising onset followed by the same pitch

The low tone is longer in duration than mid tone and mid tone is longer than high tone. If a word ends in a consonant, the contour is more distinct than otherwise.

In citation forms with /2 1 #/, the three tones can be shown in contrast:

The levels of these tonal contours are not absolute, but in a given position, with everything else - preceding and following words, intonation pattern - being the same, the relative contrast is always maintained. For example, mid tonal word with /3/ may sound higher than high tonal word with /1/, but with /1/ on mid tonal word, the relative

difference is clear and contrastive. Similarly, with /3/ substituted in the same position, the three tones preserve their relative differences.

- 2 3 1 1. /é cumi piji # # / 'This scarf is wet.'
- 2 3 1 2. /é cumni congi a #/ 'This scarf is good.'
- 2 3 1 3. /é cunni sóni a #/ 'This scarf is pretty.'
- 4. /6 kål kår giä sī #/ 'He went home yesterday.'
- 2 3 1
 5. /ó kél pind giá si #/ He went to the village yesterday.
- 6. /6 kél šár giá sí #/ He went to the city yesterday.

In sentence 6, /šár/ and/kál/ have the same tone but since /kál/ has /3/, it is higher than /šár/. But if we compare /šár/ with /pInd / where the intonation is the same, the difference in level is clear; /pInd / is higher than /kèr/.

Further description of the tones follow in two sections:

1. in isolation, 2. in context.

1.4.1. In Isolation

We will label as monosyllabic all words which are pronounced as a single syllable in context. In isolation, however, these words are phonetically disyllabic, the second syllable being predictable from the form of the first. They can, therefore, be treated as phonemically monosyllabic. The onset of a tonal contour may fall on the last or next to the last syllable. In the transcription it will be marked on the syllable of its onset.

Tonal contours are pronounced on two phonetic syllables. If the onset syllable is followed by a neutral syllable, the tone contour will be realized on these two. If the onset syllable is final and not followed by a neutral phonemic syllable, it will be pronounced with a phonetic syllable, which is wholly predictable in form, and hence nonphonemic. The form of this syllable is determined by whether the word ends in a vowel or a consonat.

If a word ends in a vowel, the final vowel is repeated making it a phonetically disyllabic word. The end of the contour is realized on this phonetic syllable.

Low tone is possible only if the word begins with a consonant or a semivowel.

```
(b) [nåa] 'bathe' /nå/
[nāa] 'no' /nā/
[kháa] 'eat' /khá/
(c) [peli] 'brother' /pal/
[geli] 'went' /gel/
[wiáa] 'marriage' /wiá/
```

In such Requences as are illustrated in (c) the first vowel always belongs to class I and is nonsyllabic.

If a word ends in a consonant, it has a vocalic release.

The end of the tone contour is realized on this release.

In disyllabic words, if the tone contour starts with the first syllable, the second syllable is 'neutral'. The vowel of the 'onset syllable' is longer than that of the neutral syllable though not as long as the vowel of the phonemic monosyllable (phonetic disyllable). /a/ of /wār/'turm' is longer than /a/ of /yāri/ 'friendship', though /a/ of /yāri/ is longer than /i/ of /yāri/.

If the contour starts with the second syllable, the first syllable is considered 'pre-tonal'. Its own pitch after pause is low but otherwise is dependent on the preceding word.

There is only one tone contour on each word. In case there are two syllables instead of one following the onset syllable, the final syllable is considered 'post-tonal'.

Its level is dependent on the preceding contour.

1.4.2. In Context

Pre-tonal syllables are heavily affected by the preceding tone contour. There are several possibilities. If the preceding word is disyllable and the tone contour begins with the first syllable, its effect on the following word will be non-significant as the contour will be nearly complete on its own second neutral syllable. If the preceding word is monosyllable or the tone contour begins with its last syllable, its effect on the following pre-tonal syllable will be much more, though not as much as it would be on its own neutral syllable. This is because of the juncture between the words which would complete part of the tone contour.

The pre-tonal syllable /pe/ in sentence 7 is not raised as much as the neutral syllable /nu/ of sentence 8 is raised with the preceding high tone. The pre-tonal syllable /pe/ of sentence 7, however, is raised much higher than the same

syllable in sentence 8. The tone contour is nearly completed on /nu/, whereas the first word of sentence 7 has no neutral syllable.

There are nine combinations:

- l. low tonal word preceded by low tonal word, low by mid, low by high;
- 2. mid by itow, mid by mid, mid by high;
- 3. high by low, high by mid, high by high.

When a word is preceded by a word of the same tone contour as its own, its contour is almost leveled. For example, if a low tonal disyllable word is preceded by a low tonal monosyllable, the rise of the preceding low tone is realized on the pre-tonal syllable which raises the onset of the low tone and tends to level the whole contour as in:

When a word is preceded by a higher tone than its own, the level of its pre-tonal syllable is raised higher than its own contour which starts from the second syllable as in:

When a word is preceded by a word of lower tone than its own, the level of its pre-tonal syllable is lowered as in:

The mid contour of /on/ lowers the pre-tonal syllable /we/ which further lowers the onset of the following high tone.

The onset of a low tonal contour is always raised by preceding low, mid or high tonal contours because the end points of all these are higher than the onset of a low tonal contour.

Preceding low tonal contour lowers following mid contour.

Preceding mid contour slightly raises following mid contour and makes it level contour instead of mid onset followed by rising. Preceding high tonal contour raises the onset of following mid contour more than its end point in the citation form.

High tonal contour is lowered by preceding low and mid tonal contours. If a high tonal contour is preceded by a high tonal contour, its level is higher than the preceding one as the preceding contour might have been affected by a preceding lower contour.

The effect of following tonal contours on low tone is discussed below.

Apart from the change in level, the change in the length of the preceding contour is very important, and in certain cases, the only criterion to determine the nature of the tone.

- 2 14. /mā kèr giā sã #/ 'I went home.'
- 2 15. /mm ker benaza sī #/ "I built the house."
- 2 1 16. /ker son sī #/ Sohan was at home!
- 2 1 17. /pěria kínne sī #/ 'Who filled it?'

If low tone precedes low tone, the change, if any, is insignificant. But following mid and high tones make considerable alternations, both in level and length or duration of the contour. Following high tone shortens the otherwise long contour. In sentence 16, high tonal /son / not only raises the level of preceding low tonal /ker/ but also shortenshits length, almost equalises it with the following mid tonal /si/. This shortening is comparatively less in sentence 14, where /ker/ is followed by mid tonal /gis/.

Comparing /ker/ of sentence 12, 14, and 16, we observe that /ker/ of 16 is the shortest and highest in level, and that of 12 longest and lowest. Length, which is very helpful in distinguishing low tone from the other two, is itself subject to considerable variations, and unless the conditioning factor is recognized, it is hard to know which/is which.

The effect of following compours on preceding mid tone is mainly one of raising or lowering levels.

Preceding high tone is lowered more or less according to the following low or mid tonal contours.

The preceding examples have all had the intonation /2 1 #/. Several other intonations occur and contrast with one another. Since the contrasts between /1/, /2/ and /3/ are basically a matter of pitch level, and since pitch level also figures prominently in the contrasts between / '/, / '/ and / '/, there must be complex interactions. The pitch actually heard on any given syllable in an utterance is roughly defined by the sum of the tonal pitch and the intonational pitch. With any given tone the three intonation levels contrast clearly. With any given intonation level the three tones contrast clearly. When there are contrasts in both tone and intonational level the total contrast in pitch may be slight or none and the differentiation must rest on other features (e.g., length) of the tones. Thus /3 /will be roughly the same in pitch as /1 /. However, these two sequences will differ in the length, /3 \ being longer.

This situation may further be altered by the interaction of terminal contours. The level terminal /,/ has sustaining effect. The rising /// may cause the level of the preceding tonal contour to rise more than usual, and the falling terminal /// lowers the initial level of high tone

and raises the initial level of low tone. All the three tones followed by /#/ fade sharply at the end.

If the pitches of syllables in a Panjabi utterance are observed and an attempt is made to assign them directly to pitch phonems, the result is chaotic. The range of variation is essentially continuous, and any partitioning seems arbitrary. Moreover, pitch phenomena associated with specific vocabulary items or sentence types are extremely variable, even capricious. If, however, the pitch on any given syllable is considered as the resultant of a number of separate phenomena. order can be found. Thus tonal and intonational pitches and terminal contours must be factored out and many contextual effects of neighboring units must be defined. Once this is done the system is found to contain a small number of units / 123, //#/. In terms of these units a rather simple morphophonemics results. Most words have a single tone in all occurrences. Intonation morphemes consisting of one or more pitch levels and one terminal can be recognised. These considerations justify the phonemic analysis on a factorial basis, though none of these phonemes can be demonstrated in isolation.

^{1.} For a more exhaustive statement on tone and intonation interaction, see my paper Paniabi Tonesics, Anthropological Linguistics, Vol.2, No.6 (June 1960). A publication of the Archives of Languages of the World, Indiana University, Bloomington, Indiana.

Since mid tone beginning with the first syllable is the most common, it is not marked except when it is desired to call explicit attention to the tone. When it begins with the second syllable, it is marked. So an unmarked word like /yari/ 'friendship' would indicate that the mid tone begins with the first syllable. And /celf/ 'run' would make it clear that the tone begins with the second syllable. High and low tones are always marked.

1.5. Juncture

The pause between two tonal contours is assigned to juncture. For example, /jöddi/ 'ancestoral', /jöd dī/ 'since then'. /jöddi/ is one tonal word, its tone onset begins with the first syllable, the second is neutral. /jöd dī/are two words, each has a separate contour. Similarly, /kūriā/ 'girls', /kūri ā/ 'I am a girl.'

1.6. Intonation

There are three intonation pitches: /1/, /2/, /3/.
/3/ is the highest pitch, it can occur only once between two terminal contours.

There are three terminal contours:

Level /,/, Rising ///, Falling /#/.

A phonological sentence ends in a rising or falling contour.

```
Phonemic Contrasts
         Sar jaunga # / 'I will go to the city tomorrow.'
   3 l
kél šár jáunga #/ 'I will go to the city tomorrow.'
2 3 2
/mm kél sér jáunga #/ 'I will go to the city tomorrow.'
2 3 1
/mm kál sár jáunga // 'I will go to the city tomorrow.'
2 3 1
/til sor jaenge //
                          'Will you go to the city?'
2 2
/wir # /
                           'Brother.' (politely calling)
5 5
/wir //
                           'Was it brother? (surprised)
3 1
/mon ne #/
                           'Mohan did it.'
                           'Did Mohan do it? (showing
                           surprise as if Mohan could never
                           have done it)
2 2 1
/son nef grs #/
                           'Sohan did not go.'
22 2 1
/són nei grā #/
                           'Did you ask about Sohan? No.
                            he did not go.
2 3 1 2
/mā ónu krá sī, pēr ó
                          nof ata # /
                           'I told him but he did not come.'
```

MORPHOPHONEMICS

- 2.1. There are three morphemically determined classes.
 - 1. Nominals of structure
 - (a) stem + case suffix
 - (b) stem + case suffix + number suffix

Stems may be simple or composite i.e., one morpheme or two. Sometimes case and number are signalled by one and the same morpheme as in singular forms.

- 2. Verbals of structure
 - (a) stem + tense suffix
 - (b) stem + tense suffix + number suffix
 - (c) stem + person suffix + tense suffix + number suffix
 - (d) stem + tense suffix + person suffix
 - (e) stem only
- 3. Correlatives
- 2.2. The following morphophonemic rules apply in the inflection of nouns and verbs:

2.
$$/a/ + /e/ = /awe/ \sim /ae/$$
 $/e/ + /e/ = /e/$

3. When a vowel suffix is added to a stem of pattern CVCCVC, where CC is a geminate cluster, the gemination is simplified and the final vowel is substituted by zero:

$$/kukker / + /a/ = /kukra/$$

h. If the stem ends in /r/, the suffixes, which otherwise begin with n / will begin with n:

/ker-na/ 'to do'
/ja-na/ 'to go'

5. If the stem ends in a consonant except a flap or a lateral, the suffixes which otherwise are $/\underline{n}$ / or /n/ will be $/\underline{en}$ / or /en/s

/ja-na/ 'to go' /já-n /
/ness-na/ 'to run' /ness-en /

6. If the stem ends in a flap or a lateral and if that flap or lateral is preceded by a vowel of Class II, rule 5 applies. If it is preceded by a vowel of Class I, rule 5 does not apply:

/mar-na/ 'to kill' /mar-en/
/tol-na/ 'to weigh' /tol-en/
/phir-na/ 'to move' /phir-n/
/mil-na/ 'to meet' /mil-n/

2.3. The following paradigms of nouns occur:

I.		singular		plural
	direct	/munda/	boy t	/munde/
	oblique	/m v<u>n</u>de/		/mundia/
	vocative	/mundia/		/mundio/
II.	direct	/tob1/	'washerm	an' /tôbi/
	oblique	/tobi/		/tobiã/
	vocative	/tobla/		/tobio/
III.	direct	/ku <u>r</u> 1/	'girl'	/ku <u>r</u> iã/
	oblique	/kuri/		/kwiā/
	vocative	/kurie/		/kur10/
IV.	direct	/m.ee/	111	/əs I /
	oblique	/mæ/		/98ã/
	dative	/meInu/		/sanu/
	ablative	/meItho/		/satho/
	genitive	/mera/		/sa <u>d</u> a/
٧.	direct	/6/	the ¹	
	instrumen	ntal /one/		
VI.	direct	/pr <u>nd</u> /	village	'/pi <u>nd</u> /
	o blique	/pind /		/pinda/

singular plural /pi<u>nd</u>3/ ablative /pindI/ locative /do/ 'two' VII. cardinal _ordinal /duja/ 'second' proportional /dúra/ 'two fold' (a)

- /duna/ 'double' (b)
- /dowe/ 'both' (c)

These classes vary somewhat in number. I and III are the largest. V is the smallest with only one member. includes only pronouns. VII are numerals.

These paradigms may be analyzed morphemically as follows.

2.4. Number

The direct singular forms are of five types:

- 1. which end in /a/ i.e. have /a/ as direct singular suffix.
- which end in /1/ i.e. have /1/ direct singular suffix,
- 3. which end in $/\tilde{a}/$ i.e. have $/\tilde{a}/$ direct singular suffix.
- 4. which end in any phoneme other than /a i a/ i.e. have zero direct singular suffix.

So the direct singular morpheme $\{a\}$ has four allomorphs: $/a \approx 1 \approx 3 \approx 6/.$

There are two numbers - singular and plural. The plural morphome $\{e\}$ has allomorphs $/e^{\infty} \not = \tilde{a} \sim \tilde{a} \approx \tilde{s} \tilde{s} / .$

1. The stems which have /a/singular suffix take /e/to form plural. Morphophonemic rule -/a/+/e/=/e/.

2. The singular forms which have /i/ for singular take $/\tilde{a}/$ for plural.

3. The singular forms which have $/\tilde{a}/$ for singular take $/w\tilde{a}/$ for plural.

Number 1 is syntactically masculine and numbers 2 and 3 are feminine. Refer to 2.73.

4. A number of forms which have zero suffix for singular have again zero for plural (class I), and some have $/\tilde{a}/$ for plural (class II). These classes are lexically conditioned (syntactically class I are masculine and class II are feminine).

class I

5. The following subclass B of nominals (syntactically pronouns), separated morphemically for its different patterning with respect to morphemic shapes, inflect for number as:

The hyphens represent morphemic boundaries.

2.5. Case

The ordinary singular forms discussed above are also direct forms. The oblique morpheme $\{e\}$ has allomorphs $/e \propto \phi \propto \bar{a}/$. The singular forms which end in /a/ take /e/ oblique suffix. Morphophonemic rule -/a/+/e/=/e/.

The oblique suffix for plural is $/\tilde{a}/$. Morphophonemic rule - /e/ + $/\tilde{a}/$ = $/i\tilde{a}/$.

Where the singular suffix is alloworph /b/, the oblique is also /b/, but where the plural suffix is /b/, the oblique plural is $/\tilde{a}/$ as in

Where the singular and plural suffixes are /1/ or $/\tilde{a}/$, the oblique is $/\beta/$ as in

The <u>ablative</u> construction is possible only for singular forms. The ablative morpheme is $\{\tilde{o}\}$ with allomorphs $/\tilde{o} \propto \text{th} \tilde{o} \sim \text{th} \tilde{o}/$. Morphophonemic rule -/a/+/o/=/10/.

The alternants /tho ~ ttho / go with nominals of Class B 1.e. pronouns (a), and with only the following forms given in (b).

There is no ablative formation for the third person.

The <u>locative</u> construction, with the exception of /ker/
home, is possible only for plural forms. The locative
morpheme $\{I\}$ has allomorphs $I = \emptyset$ the - the/.

The <u>vocative</u> construction is possible for both singular and plural forms. The vocative morpheme for singular is $\{a\}$ with allomorphs $/a \infty e/$, /e/ occurring after forms which end in /i/ and other forms which are lexically or syntactically feminine; /a/ after those forms which end in /a/ other forms which are lexically or syntactically masculine. The plural vocative morpheme is $\{o\}$ and has only one form.

/kur-i/ 'girl' /kur-i-e/'0, girl'
/mund-a/ 'boy' /mund-i-a/'0, boy'

Morphophonemic rule - /a/ + /a/ = /ia/. General morphophonemic rule does not apply in this case.

Morphophonemic rule - e/+ o/= 10/.

Only nominals of Class B (pronouns) are inflected for dative, instrumental, and genitive. Third person plural is never inflected for these cases.

The dative morpheme is inui.

/meInu/, /teInu/ are colloquial. In the written language they are /mænu/ and /tenu/.

The <u>instrumental</u> construction is possible only for third person singular. The instrumental morpheme is {ne}.

The genitive morpheme is $\{r\}$ with allomorphs $/r \infty d \omega d /$.

Final /a/ is a singular suffix.

It is a matter of taste whether we consider the last three cases as case inflections or merely new shapes of the resective postpositions. Maybe /onu/, /one/, /oda/ are morphologically two words each and only phonologically one word each. For example, compare the following forms:

The same is true of ablative. The ablative postposition $/t\sqrt[3]{}$ has taken different forms $/\sqrt[3]{} \approx th\sqrt[3]{}$. It seems, there are only four genuine formations which can be called case inflections and they are - direct, oblique, locative, and vocative. The description of others, however, is justified

for the simple reason that the forms are different from the regular postpositions and their distribution is very much restricted and has to be explained and described somewhere.

2.6. Numerals may be considered nominals of Class C. They inflect for ordinals and proportionals.

The ordinal morpheme is {j} with allomorphs /e or j or or thow w/.

Cardina	ıls	Ordinals	
/1k/	one*	/pe I-l-a /	'first'
/do/	'two'	/du-j-a/	second!
/tin/	three'	/ti-j-a/	'third'
/car/	'four'	/ced-th-a/	'fourth'
/penj/	'five'	/peñj-w-ã/	'fifth'
/che/	'six'	/che-w-ã/	'sixth'
**			
/yarã/	'eleven'	/yár-w-ã/	'eleventh'
/barã/	'twelve'	/bár-w-ã/	'twelfth'

From eleven onwards, the first syllable takes high tone before the ordinal morpheme.

In proportionals we have three morphemes $-\{r\}$, $\{n\}$, $\{e\}$. $\{r\}$ indicates forms like 'two fold', 'three fold', etc.,

```
indicates forms like 'double', 'triple', etc.,

indicates forms like 'both', 'alltthree', etc.

indicates forms like 'both', 'alltthree', etc.

indicates forms like 'both', 'alltthree', etc.

indicates forms like 'double', 'alltthree', etc.

indicates forms like 'double', 'tallthree', etc.

indicates forms like 'double', 'triple', etc.,

indicates forms like 'both', 'alltthree', etc.,

indicates forms like 'both', 'allthree', etc.,

indicates fo
```

In the stem, alongwith the vowel alternations, there is a high tone before the morpheme $\{r\}$.

As before $\{r\}$ morpheme, the stem before the morpheme $\{e\}$ takes high tone.

Almost all the forms that occur in ordinals and proportionals have been recorded in the above section.

2.7. Gender

2.7.1. For Banjabi nominals, gender is mainly a lexical category. No satisfactory morphemic analysis is possible. For Panjabi verbals, the morphemic statement is very simple. All verbals constructions, where gender is indicated, always have the same morphemes without any allomorphic variants. These morphemes are:

masculine singular {a}

masculine plural {e}

feminine singular {i}

feminine plural {fa}

Gender and number are indicated by one and the same morpheme.
Refer to 2.7.4.

2.7.2. Because of the gender-number agreement within noun and verb phrases and a general agreement of noun and verb phrases in a sentence, strictly speaking, gender is considered a syntactic category. All the same, since gender is a very important category in Panjabi syntax, a few generalizations about the gender of nominals are given below.

2.7.3. There are two genders - masculine and feminine. Every Panjabi nominal is assigned to (die ar of these. The first generalization can be made as follows. Nominals which end in /a/ are masculine singular. They take /1/ to form feminine singular. Morphophonemic rule - a/a/a + /1/ = /1/.

There are, however, some exceptions. The nominals which end in /i/ and are masculine singular (purely a lexical identification), take $\{a\underline{n}\}$ to form feminine singular.

2.7.4. Masculine singular nominals having $\{a\}$ suffix take $\{e\}$ for masculine plural. Feminine singular nominals having $\{i\}$ suffix take $\{i\}$ for feminine plural.

With this analysis, instead of calling /a/ and /1/ two variants of the singular morpheme, as we did in 2.4., we shall, now, call $\{a\}$ as masculine singular, and $\{i\}$ as feminine singular. Similarly, $\{e\}$ as masculine plural, and $\{ta\}$ as feminine plural. This is how these morphemes will be referred to in the following sections.

2.7.5. The gender of most of the indinates and come of the animates is entirely a lexical matter and so no attempt at further morphemic analysis is made here.

2.8. Verbala

There are three types of bases: primary, simple causal, double causal. The simple causal morpheme is $\{o\}$, and the double causal morpheme is $\{wo\}$. The following description shows the alternations in the base forms before the infinitive suffix $\{\underline{n}a\}$.

1. The first vowel of the causal base is always /e/, the gemination, if any, is simplified.

Primary			Simple	Double
/jur-na/	to	become stitched	/je <u>r</u> -6- <u>n</u> a/	/ja <u>r-w5-n</u> a/
/au <u>tt-n</u> a/	to	throw*	/se <u>t-5-n</u> a/	/se <u>t-w6-n</u> a/
/udd-na/	'to	fly	/e <u>d</u> -5- <u>n</u> a/	/a <u>d</u> -w5- <u>n</u> a/
/mur-na/	'to	return¹	/mer-6-na/	/mor-w5-na/

2. If the base ends in $/\pi$, this $/\pi$ alternates with $/\phi$ in the simple causal and with $/\phi$ in the double causal.

3. The high tone of the primary base remains high in the simple causal but alternates with low tone in the double causal and also there is a shift from the first syllable to the second. If the primary base has a low tone, there is no alternation throughput.

4. If the base ends in /iu/, /o/, or /o/, there is no simple causal formation.

5. If the primary base ends in /1/, this /1/ alternates with /1/ and there is no double causal formation.

The high tone alternates with low tone.

6. The disyllabic primary bases are extended only to simple causal and the vowel of the first syllable is substituted by /e/ and of the second syllable by /e/.

7. There are lexically conditioned bases which do not have causal formations such as:

2.9. The following paradigms of verbs occur.

Infinitive /lm-na/ 'to take!

	Present I	Present II	Past
mas. sing.	/lef-n-a/	/lef-nd-a/	/1-1-8/
mas. pl.	/lef-n-e/	/leI-nd-e/	/1-e-6/
fem. sing.	/loi-n-i/	/lef-nd-i/	/l-e- 1 /
fem. pl.	/lei-n-iã/	/leI-nd-Tã/	/1-ə- T ã/

Present Perfect /lei-nd-za/

Past Perfect /1-I-a/

Present perfect and past perfect do not have gender-number morphemes.

Future

1st person

mas. sing.	mas. pl.	fem. sing.	fem. pl.
/15-wa-ng-a/	/lé-wa-ng-e/	/16-wa-ng-1/	/16-wa-ng-1a/
2nd person			
/16-we-ng-a/	/lé-wo-g-e/	/lé-we-ng-1/	/15-wo-g-1ã/
3rd person			
/16-we-g-a/	/1 d- n-g-e/	/16-we-g-1/	/1#-n-g-1a/

Imperative

Only for second person. There is no gender distinction.

Singular	Plural	
/1m/·	/1-6/	

Polite Imperative

Singular	Plural
/lo- 1 /	/lx=8/

Hortative

There is no gender distinction.

	Singular	Plu ral
lst person	/10-WE/	/lo-1e/
2nd person	/19-wē/	/16-wo/
3rd person	/10-We/	/1 <u>6-n</u> /

Optative

Only gender-number distinction is made.

Conditional Infinitive /lm-n /

Imperfect Infinitive /lm-no/

Obligatory /læ/

The morphemic analysis of these paradigms is given below.

2.10. Present Tense

There are two present tense morphemes:

I. $\{n\}$. Restrictions on persons; goes only with first and second person.

II. $\{nd\}$. No restriction. It has allomorphs $/nd \sim d/$. If the stem ends in a vowel, it takes allomorph /nd/, if it ends in a consonant, it takes /d/.

The semantic difference between I and II is that I shows more immediacy than does II.

The following alternations occur in the stem forms with respect to the infinitive.

(c) Final /n/ of the stem alternates with /n / before /d/ only if the stem in the infinitive has mid tone.

(d) There are some irregular alternations.

Both colloquial and written forms are used in the standard speech.

Structure: stem + tense + gender-number

2.11. Present Perfect

The present perfect morpheme is {is}.

/lo-na/ 'to stick' /lo-nd-ra/

/go-na/ to sing' /go-nd-ra/

The gemination of the infinitive is simplified.

/kutt-na/ 'to beat' /kut-d-ia/

/sutt-na/ 'to throw' /sut-d-1a/

/m/ alternates with /ei/

/lm-na/ 'to take' /lef-nd-ra/

Final /n/ of the stem alternates with /n /.

/jan-na/ 'to know' /jan-d-ra/

Structure: stem + present tense morpheme + present perfect tense morpheme

2.12. Past Tense

2.12.1. Past tense morpheme $\{i\}$ has the following allomorphs: $/i \sim 9 \approx 6 \propto t \sim tt \sim d \sim dd \sim tth \sim th \sim tth/$

2.12.2. (a) Allomorph /1/ has restriction on gender-number.

It occurs only with masculine singular.

1 3

- (b) If a stem ends in a geminated consonant from any of the following consonants, it may take /1/ allomorph or may have only zero substitute, both the forms being in free variation. These consonants are: /b t c j g th s/.
- (c) If a stem is a single phoneme, it will have allomorph /e/ everywhere except before the masculine singular suffix /a/.
- (d) If a stem has more than one phoneme, it will have allomorph /b/ everywhere except before masculine singular suffix /a/.
- 2.12.3. Allomorph /t/ has very low frequency; it normally goes with those forms whose stems end in /i/ as in

There are some exceptions but they only in those cases which take allomorph /i/ also. In such cases, /t/ and /i/ are in free variation.

2.12.4. Allomorphs /tt ∞ dd ∞ tth/ are lexically conditioned. Their occurrences are listed below.

```
/tt/
/so-na/ 'to sleep' /su-tt-a/
/jo-na/ 'to yoke' /ju-tt-a/
/de-na/ 'to give' /di-tt-a/

/dd/. Stems which take /dd/ end in /n/ in the infinitive.
/win-na/ 'to prick' /wi-dd-a/
/gin-na/ 'to kneed' /gi-dd-a/
/rin-na/ 'to cook' /ri-dd-a/
/bén-na/ 'to tie' /bé-dd-a/
/tth/
/ness-na/'to run' /ne-tth-a/ also /ness-i-a/
/di-na/ 'to get placed' /de-tth-a/
/tie-na/ 'to fall flat' /te-tth-a/
```

2.12.5. Allomorphs /d wtth wth/ go with only one form each.

```
/kha-na/ 'to eat' /khá-d-a/
/lé-na/ 'to get down' /le-tth-a/
/há-na/ 'to sit' /bel-th-a/
```

2.12.6. The following alternations in the stems occur with respect to infinitive bases. All these alternations occur before allomorph /1/ described in 2.12.2.

(c) Final /1 / preceded by /o/ and one consonant, except /r/, alternates with /l/.

2.12.7. There are some irregular alternations. All but one occur with less frequent allomorphs.

2.12.8. Structure: stem + tense + gender-number

2.13. Past Perfect

The past perfect morpheme is $\{\tilde{\mathbf{a}}\}$ with allomorphs $/\tilde{\mathbf{a}} \propto \mathbf{e}/$ which are in free variation.

Stem alternants:

(a)
$$/o/ \sim /a/$$
 $/o-\underline{n}a/$ 'to come' $/a-i-\tilde{a}/ \sim /a-\beta-e/ \sim /ae/$
 $/lo-\underline{n}a/$ 'to stick' $/la-i-\tilde{a}/ \sim /la-\beta-e/ \sim /lae/$

(b)
$$/e/\sim/p/$$

/la-na/ 'to take' /l-1-a/ /l-e-e/
/pa-na/ 'to lie' /p-1-a/ /p-e-e/

Structure: stem + past tense morpheme + past perfect morpheme

2.14. Future Tense

2.14.1. In future tense we have three types of morphemes:

Tense morpheme

Person morpheme

Gender-number morpheme

2.14.2. Tense morpheme $\{g\}$ has allomorphs $/g \sim yg/$. /yg/for first person singular and plural and second person singular; /g/ for others.

2.14.3. The distribution of person morphemes is as follows: lst person singular $\{u\}$ with allomorphs $/u \approx a \sim wa/$. Second and third are phonologically conditioned, the first and these two are in free variation.

1st person plural {a} with allomorphs /a ~wa/.

2nd person singular $\{e\}$ with allomorphs /e ~ we/.

2nd person plural $\{o\}$ with allomorphs $/o \sim wo \sim o/$; /o/ if the stem in infinitive ends in /a/.

3rd person singular $\{e\}$ with allomorphs $/e \sim we \approx u/.$ /u/ is in free variation with the first two which are phonologically conditioned.

3rd person plural $\{\underline{n}\}$ with allomorphs $\underline{n} = \underline{n}$. $\underline{-n}$. $\underline{-n}$ if a stem ends in a consonant.

2.14.4. First and third person singular constructions, in rapid speech, have shorter forms where tense and gender-number suffixes are dropped.

- (a) /já-u-yg-a/ 'I will go'
 This may be substituted by /já-ū/.
- (b) /já-u-g-a/ 'He will go'
 This may be substituted by /já-u/.

2.14.5. The following alternations occur in the stem forms:

(a) Stems which have mid tone in the infinitive, take high tone in the future tense. If there is already a high or low tone in the infinitive, it remains unaltered.

(b) As in the case of past tense, final $\frac{1}{2}$ of the stem preceded by vowel $\frac{1}{2}$ and any single consonant except $\frac{1}{2}$ alternates with $\frac{1}{2}$.

(e) $/n/ \sim /n$ / only if the stem in the infinitive has mid tone.

All of these alternations occur before all personal suffixes except third person plural where the stem remains the same as in the infinitive but for the tone alternation discussed above.

2.14.6. Structure: stem + person morpheme + tense morpheme + gender-number morpheme

- 2.15. Imperative
- 2.15.1. There are three morphemes: stem + imperative + person.

 2.15.2. The imperative morpheme {'} has two allomorphs

 /' _ \$/. If the stem in the infinitive ends in /a/, the

 imperative allmorph for the singular is / '/, otherwise /\$/.

 If the stem in the infinitive has mid tone, the imperative

allomorph for the plural is / /, otherwise /ø/.

2.15.3. The second person singular suffix is /b/. The second person plural morpheme is $\{o\}$ with allomorphs $/o \sim \text{wo } \infty \text{p}/$. When the stem in the infinitive ends in /m/, /wo/ and /p/ are in free variation. Compare these person suffixes with those described in 2.1 h . The second person singular morpheme in that section is $\{e\}$. /b/ suffix here is considered allomorph of that morpheme. This justifies the setting up of a /b/ suffix for the singular in this case. We do not posit a zero morpheme.

2.15.4. The following alternations occur in the stems of the singular and plural forms with respect to the infinitive:

2.15.5. Structure

stem + imperative morpheme + person morpheme

2.16. Polite Imperative

The polite imperative morpheme for the singular is $\{1\}$ and for the plural $\{1\}$.

Stem alternations:

Structure: stem + polite imperative morpheme + person morpheme

2.17. Hortative

2.17.1. There are three morphemes: stem + hortative + person.

2.17.2. The hortative singular morpheme is $\{^{-}\}$ with allomorphs $/^{-} \sim \beta$ /. / $^{-}$ / for first and second person singular. $/\beta$ / for others.

The hortative plural morpheme is $\{`\}$ with allomorphs $/`` = \beta/.$ /`' if the stem in the infinitive has mid tone, otherwise $/\beta/.$

2.17.3. The first person singular morpheme is $\{a\}$ with allomorphs a - wa.

The first person plural morpheme is {e} with allomorphs /e ~ ie/; /e/ if the stem in the infinitive ends in /i/, otherwise /ie/.

The second person singular morpheme is $\{e\}$ with allomorphs $/e \sim we/.$

The third person singular morpheme is {e} with allomorphs /e ~ we/.

The third person plural morpheme is $\{\underline{n}\}$ with allomorphs $/\underline{n} \sim \underline{n}$.

2.17.4. Compare these person morphemes with those described in 2.14.3. There are some important differences. The first person plural morpheme in this section is $\{e\}$ with allomorphs $/e \sim ie/$ instead of $\{a\}$ with allomorphs $/a \sim wa/$ of section 2.14.3. Speaking strictly of the first person plural morpheme, probably all of these could be put together as morpheme $\{a\}$ with allomorphs $/a \sim wa \infty e \sim ie/$, the two sets being morphologically conditioned.

Another difference is in the allomorphs of the first and the third person singular morphemes. Whereas section 2.14.3. has /u/ allomorph in both these cases, these allomorphs are not possible in the hortative formations.

2.17.5. Stem alternations

- (a) Final /m/ alternates with /e/ before all morphemes except third person plural.
- (b) Final /o/ alternates with /a/ before all morphemes except third person plural.

```
Infinitive /pm-na/ 'to lie'
lst person singular { po-~-wa} /p@wa/
        plural {pe-'-ie} /péie/
2nd person singular { po-~we} /p3we/
        plural {po-'-wo} /powo/
3rd person singular {pa-b-we} /pawe/
                  ⟨ p = '-<u>n</u> } /p∞<u>n</u> /
        plural
Infinitive /lo-na/ 'to stick'
let person singular {la-~-wa} /lawa/
                  { la-'-ie } /laie/
        plural
2nd person singular { la--we } /lawe/
        plural {la-'-wo} /lawo/
3rd person singular {la-p-we} /lawe/
                               /16<u>n</u> /
                  { 10- -<u>n</u> }
        plural
```

2.17.6. Structure

stem + hortative morpheme + person morpheme

2.18. Optative

The optative morpheme is {id}.

Stem alternations:

Exception

Structure: stem + optative morpheme + gender-number morpheme

2.19. Conditional Infinitive

The conditional infinitive morpheme is $\{\underline{n}\}$ with allomorphs \underline{n} $-\underline{n}$.

/kutt-na/ 'to beat' /kutt-en /

/ja-na/ 'to go' /ja-n /

 $po-\underline{n}a$ 'to put' $po-\underline{n}$

Structure: stem + conditional infinitive morpheme

2.20. Imperfect Infinitive

The imperfect infinitive morpheme is $\{\underline{n}o\}$ with allomorphs $/\underline{n}o \sim no/.$

Structure: stem + imperfect infinitive morpheme

2.21. Obligatory

The obligatory is described with respect to infinitive as:

Stem alternation

Exception

Structure: stem only

2.22. Correlatives

/é/	this'	/o/ 'that'	/jo/ 'which' /so/ 'that'	/kon/ 'who?'	
/éthe/	here	/othe/ 'there'	/jitthe/ 'where'	/kitthe/'where?'	
/éne/	'he'	/one/ 'he'	/jrnne/ 'who'	/kinne/ who?	
alternant forms					
/en/		/on/	/jin/	/kin/	
/ewē/	this way	/owe/ 'that way'	/jiwe/ which way'	/kiwe/ how?	
/iñj/	this way	/unj/ 'that way'		/kinj/ 'how?'	
			/jers/ 'who'	/ké <u>r</u> a/'who?'	
/éda/	'his'	/ods/ 'his'	/jfda/ 'whose'	/kfda/ whose?'	
alternant forms mainly in the written language					
/is da	/	/us da/	/jis da/	/kis da/	
/éder/	'here'	/oder/ 'there'	/jidder/ 'where'	/kidder/ where?	

2.23. Intonation Morphemes

There are eleven intonation morphemes:

1. /(2) 3 1 # / General statement with specific emphasis.

2. /(2) 3 2 # / Statement with general emphasis.

3. /(2) 2 1 # / Statement without any emphasis.

```
/phir raje ne akhia # / Then the king said - '
/ejīt di citthi ai nu kinna cir ho giā # /

'It is long since I received a letter from Ajit.'
```

```
4. /(2) 3 2 // Question demanding an answer or a command.
     /rama ser grace// / 'Did Rama go to the city?'

/wekh khã jera // 'Just wait for a moment.'
     3 2
/cheti ker // 'Hurry up."
5. /2 3 // General embpasis
   2 /poñj te car no ///
                          'Five and four make nine.'
   /penju coka wi ///
                         'Five times four (1s) twenty.'
6. /2 2 /// Surprise
     2 2
/wir // /
                                 'Was it brother?'
     2 2
/jito ///
                                 'Was it Jito?'
     2 2
/hæ // /
                                  'Is it?'
7. /2 2 # / Vocative (Independent)
     2 2
/wir #/
                                  Brother !!
    2 2
/caca ji #/
                                  'Uncle, dear !!
     2 2
/bapu ji #/
                                  'Father, dear !!
```

S Y N T A X

General Abbreviations

N Noun

A Adjective

V Verb

Ad Adverb

Pr Pronoun

C Connective

Vp Verb Phrase

Np Noun Phrase

N-V Noun-Verb Phrase

A-V Adjective-Verb Phrase

p Postposition

Pp Postpositional Phrase

Crd Coordinate

E Emphasis

Neg Negative

mas Masculine

fem Feminine

sing Singular

pl Plural

Voc Vocative

Abbreviations for the texts cited

đ	Kartar Singh Duggal, Nawan Admi , Amritsar, no date given.		
da	Larai Nahin, Delhi, 1953.		
g	Gurbax Singh, Bhakhdi Jiwan Changiari, Preet Nagar, 1950.		
gs	Merian Abhul Yadan, Preet Nagar,		
	fourth printing, 1954.		
gđ	Ganda Singh, Afghanistan da Safar, New Delhi,		
	second printing, 1958.		
gm	Gurmukh Singh Musafar, Sabh Haccha, Amritsar, no dto.		
10	Ishwar Chandar Nanda, Lishkare, Delhi, 1953.		
m	Mohan Singh Dewana, Parandi, Amritsar, 1955.		
m2	Rang Tamashe, Amritsar, 1951.		
n	Surindar Singh Narula, Apne Parae, Amritsar, 1955.		
ns	Nanak Singh, Astak Nastak, New Delhi, 1959.		
р	Gurdial Singh Phul, <u>Bewasi Jan Hun Nahin</u> , New Delhi, 1955.		
R	Daud Rahbar, Tape recordings. (Daud Rahbar is a		
native of Lahore).			
80	Sant Singh Sekhon, Che Ghar, Ludhiana, sixth		
	printing, 1950.		
88	<u>Samachar</u> , Ludhiana, fifth printing, 1953.		
st	Sohan Singh Sital, Dive di Lo. Ludhiana, 1953.		

t Teja Singh, Arsi, Amritsar, 1952. ts Ghar da Piar, Amritsar, 1959. W Wir Singh, Guru Nanak Chamatkar, Partil, Amritsar, seventh printing, 1960. WB Guru Nanak Chamatkar, Part II, Amritsar, sixth printing, 1955. Kalghidhar Chamatkar, Part I, Amritsar, wb ninth printing, 1959. Kalghidhar Chamatkar, Part II. Amritser, MO eighth printing, 1959.

3.1. Pronouns

The nouns which can not occur in construct with adjectives are considered 'pronouns'. The following pronouns occur in Panjabi:

Plural forms are used for singulars to show respect to elders. Sometimes /ap/ is used instead of /tusī/ 'you (pl)'. For pronominal declension, refer to 2.5. For coordination of pronouns in a paragraph, refer to 3.11. For pronouns functioning as adjectives, refer to 3.2.1. (f).

3.2. Adjectives

Morphologically, there is no distinction between nouns and adjectives. Syntactically, words occurring in the following test frame are considered adjectives.

I. /ik bốt we<u>dda admi / 'a very big man'</u>
A₁ A₂ A₃ N

The order A₁ + A₂ + A₃ is obligatory. A₁ are numerals. A₂ are words like /bot/ 'very'. A₃ are words like /wedda/ 'big', /chota/ 'small', /lal/ 'red', /teng/ 'narrow'.

II. /pējja janda admi/ 'a running man'

V1 V2 N

The order $V_1 + V_2$ is obligatory.

3.2.1. There are several categories of adjectives:

- (a) The adjectives which inflect for gender-number like /wedda/ 'big', /kala/ 'black'. These adjectives are called by Parbodh Pandit of Gujrat University (India), 'black adjectives' since word /kala/ for black' is typical of this group in all north Indian languages.
- (b) The adjectives which do not inflect for gender-number like /bot/ 'very', /lal/ 'red'. Pandit calls them 'red adjectives' after the word /lal/ of this category.

- (c) 1. Numerals like /ik/ 'one'. Syntactically one and one half 11/2 and anything less than that is considered singular. One and three quarters 13/4 and anything more than that is considered plural for agreement with/noun or a verb phrase. There is no gender distinction in these cases.
- ii. The word for twenty /wi/ is plural and does not indicate any gender. However, if we count in twenties, then beginning with 'two twenties', the word for twenty /wi/ is inflected for gender-number. /do wiā/ 'two twenties', /tɪn wiā/ 'three twenties', just like /do kurīa/ 'two girls', /tɪn kurīa/ 'three girls'.
- iii. The count number for hundred is /so/ which is syntanctically plural and does not indicate gender. However, there is a special word for the unit hundred /senkra/ which is masculine-singular and if we want to say 'two units of hundred', it will be /do senkre/ masculine-plural just like /do lerke/ 'two boys'. Two hundred, on the other hand, will be /do so/ which will indicate number but not gender.
- iv. The word for 'thousand' is /hezār/. The phrase rupees' rupæ 'five thousand' will be /peñj hezār/ i.e. the noun after /hezār/ will be plural but /hezār/ like other numerals is not inflected. However, if we want to say 'thousands of boys', /hezār/ will take /ā/ suffix /hezārā lerke/. The same is true of the word for 'a hundred thousand' /lekh/.

- (d) /koi/ 'some'. This adjective is always singular. The noun or the verb in agreement with /koi/ will be in singular. It can be of either gender.
- (e) /thora/ 'some' in its singular form can be used only with mass nouns like /dvd/ 'milk', /pani/ 'water', /kenek/ 'wheat' etc. There is another adjective /kuj/ 'something', like /thora/ which/is used only with mass nouns but unlike /thora/ it is never inflected for gender-number. As far as inflection is concerned, it functions like a 'red adjective'.
- (f) Category (f) are the pronouns which function as adjectives before noun phrases. These 'pronominal adjectives' precede A₁ as:

/mere do bốt we<u>dd</u>e mez/ 'my two very big tables' Fr A₁ A₂ A₃ N

3.2.2. Some verb phrases function as adjectives and as adjectives they are not only inflected for gender and number to agree with the noun but also, like other adjectives, inflect for case (when the noun phrase is in construct with a postposition).

Examples:

```
direct - /pejj-a jand-a lerk-a/ 'the boy who is running'

oblique - /pejj-e jand-e lerk-e ne/

direct - /khelōt-a hor-a lerk-a/ 'the boy who is standing'

oblique - /khelōt-e ho-e lerk-e ne/

/ne/ is (instrumental) postposition.
```

3.3. Postpositions

```
3.3.1. There are three types of postpositions in Panjabi.
```

- I. /da/ 'of'
- II. /ne/ 'instrumental or agentive'

/nu/ 'to - dative'

/to/ 'from, by'

III. /wic/ 'in'

/ender/ 'inside'

/bar/ 'outside'

/utte/ ~ /te/ 'on'

/thalle/ 'under'

/nal / 'with'

/kol / 'near'

/bina/ 'without'

/picche/ 'after'

/egge/ 'in front of'

/wel/ 'towards'

etc., etc.

Nouns and adjectives are inflected for the oblique case before postpositions. Type I /da/ 'of' is inflected for gender-number to agree with the noun phrase. Type II are uninflected. Type III have fused forms. Refer to 2.5./wic/ 'in', /wicco/ 'from inside'; /bar/ 'outside', /baro/

'from outside'; /utte/ 'on', /uttö/ 'from above'; /thelle/ 'under', /thellxö/ 'from below'.

3.3.2. There is one more type. This is the postposition /de/ which optionally occurs between a noun phrase and a type III postposition. This /de/ could be considered as masculine-singular-oblique of the postposition /da/ 'of' or in a separate category. One strong case in favor of its being considered as masculine-singular-oblique of /da/ 'of' is that in the case of first and second person pronouns where we have fused forms of these postpositions, this /de/ takes the same alternant as /da/ 'of' does. For example:

```
/mera/ 'mine' masculine-singular-direct
/mere/ masculine-singular-oblique
and
/mere nall / 'with me'
compare
/mon de nal / 'with Mohan'
```

1000

Examples:

(a)/one paret dia pehara wic ser weste, to othe

re ke mi thend da to ucana da nesa lia # / m-25

'It founded cities in the mountains of Bharat and while

living there enjoyed the rain and the cool breeze and
the heights (of the mountains).'

/paret dia pehara/ 'the mountains of Bharat'

/dia/ obl mas pl toagree with /pehara/ obl. mas, pl. which is a followed by the postposition /wic/ 'in'

/thend da/ 'of cold'
/ucana da/ 'of the heights'
/da/ in both cases agrees with /nesa/ 'enjoyment' mas. sing-

(b) /es gel wic goriā di mesūri te kaliā di mesūri sanjiwal hen # / m-25

'In this respect Mussourie of white man and Mussourie of black man have something in common.'

/goriā di mesūri/ 'Mussourie of white men'
/kalxā di mesūri/ 'Mussourie of black man'

/di/ fem. sing. agrees with /mesuri/ fem. sing.

(c) /é pài te kitő da lóbi a weria # / m-96

'This Bhai has come with extreme greed from somewhere i.e. this Bhai is extremely greedy.'

/kito da/ 'of somewhere'

As in this case, /da/ may not be in construct with the following noun or may not be followed by a noun at all.

(d) /zzet nal apne ker jan , ta lekh wetti da #/

*If they go home respectfully, it is like earning millions. (Idiomatic) i.e. nothing is better than going home respectfully.

/wetti da/ of earning i.e. earned, earns!

First and second person pronouns have fused forms of this postposition with different alternants:

The final /a/ in the fused forms is/masculine singular morpheme.

Third person singular has a fused form with /da/.

/ó/ 'he, she, it'(far)' /óda/ 'his'

/é/ 'he, she, it '(near)' /éda/ 'his'

/óda/ and /éda/ are phonologically one word each.

Third person plural construction with /da/ is two words.

/ona da/ 'theirs'

/éna da/ 'theirs'

3.3.4. /ne/

The postposition /ne/ marks the 'subject' or N₁ in a sentence. In the absence of N₂, the use of /ne/ is optional. N₁, however, will be inflected for oblique as if /ne/ were present. If N₂ occurs in a sentence, /ne/ is optional in the spoken language and is generally omitted but in the written variety, the use of /ne/ in a case like this is more frequent. If N₃ occurs in a sentence, /ne/ must follow N₁ on both levels - spoken and written. /ne/ never occurs in a sentence with a present or a future tense verb phrase. When /ne/ follows N₁, the verb phrase does not agree with it. For definitions of N₁, N₂ and N₃, refer to 3.10. With first and second person pronouns /ne/ can never be used. With the third person singular pronoun it is always used either as /ne/ or in its abbreviated form /n/, /on/ instead of /óne/.

With the third person plural pronouns, it is optional as with other nouns.

Examples:

(b) /mumdia ne pheria si # / "The boys caught"

N1

Also possible

/mundia pheria si #/

Note that the oblique form of /mundia/ does not change.

/món són nu akhia #/ N_1 N_2 V

```
(d) /nojwan ne becce wel ap<u>n</u>ia bahā pesārīa # /
N1 N2 p N3 V ss-99
```

The young man streched his arms towards the child.

* /nojwan becce wel apnia baha pesarta # /

3.3.5. /nu/

/nu/ marks N_2 in a sentence and serves the purpose of the dative case in traditional grammar. The verb phrase does not agree with a noun in construct with /nu/. The pronouns have fused forms with /nu/:

```
/ma/ 'I' /meīnu/

/esī/ 'we' /sanu/

/tū/ 'you'(sing)' /tenu/

/tusī/ 'you'(pl)' /tuānu/

/ó/ 'he'(far)' /ónu/

/é/ 'he '(near)' /énu/

but

/ó/ 'they (far)' /ónn nu/

/é/ 'they (near)' /éna nu/

and /kon/ 'who' /kinnu/

in the written variety /kis nu/
```

/jo/ 'who' /jinnu/
in the written variety /jis nu/.

Examples:

(a) /cekori nu mm mesuri wekhia si # / m-25 $N_2 \qquad \qquad N_1 \quad \text{Loc} \qquad V$

'I saw Chakori in Mussourle.'

(b) /mumde nu is gel to kuj kor leggi # / ss-132

N2 Pp N3 V

'The boy was annoyed over this matter.'

(c) /ms apne mitter nu pucchia # / ss-60 N_1 N_2 V

"I asked my friend."

3.3.6. /to/ 'from, by'

With pronouns, /to/ has alternant fused forms:

/mm/ 'I' /meithő/
/esī/ 'we' /sathő/
/tū/ 'you'(sing)' /tethő/
/tusī/ 'you'(pl)' /tæthő/
/ó/ 'he, she, it'(far)' /ótő/
or /us tő/

```
/é/ 'he, she, it (near)' /étő/

or /is tő/

/ó/ 'that' /óthő/ 'from there'

/é/ 'this' /éthő/ 'from here'
```

Examples:

- (a) /món to kuj na hora # / From Mohan nothing was

 done i.e. Mohan could not

 do anything.
- (b) /o šero ara si # / He came from the city.
- (c) /on meltho pucchia # / He asked me.
- (d) /on ona to selá lei # / 'He got advice from him.'
- (e) /óde kol so to ziada rupm ne #/

 He has more than a hundred rupees.
- (f) /ôde kol so tổ kềt rượm ne # /

 'He has less than a hundred rupees.'
- (g) /ó ethara sala to piccho ara si # /

 "He came after eighteen
 years."
- (h) /germia to pella mesem cenga hunda e # /

 The weather is pleasant before the summer.

- (1) /éthổ koi ciz na khər # / Do not take anything from here.
- 3.3.7. Type III postpositions serve the same purpose as locatives in traditional grammar and in construct with nouns they form locative phrases (loc. p.).

The postposition /de/, or its alternants in case of pronouns, occur between a noun and a postposition of type III. This occurrence of /de/ is optional, except in the case of pronouns (excluding third person plural), on both levels - written and spoken.

Examples:

- (a) /éna kuj salā wic us di cinta kèt gəl si # /
 - 'In these few years, his worry was lessened.'
- (b) /mere wic hor kuj gel nef #/
 There is nothing else in me.
 - * /mm wic hor kuj gel nef #/
- (c) /sera de wic lok bere ne # /

 'There are too many people in the cities.'

 Also possible and even preferred:

 /sara wic lok bere ne # /

```
'I went with them.'

Also possible:

/mm ona nal grasa # /

(e) /kursi de utte bætho # /

'Please sit on the chair.'

Also possible:

/kursi utte bætho # /

But if /te/, the abbreviated form of /utte/ is used,

then /de/ cannot be used.

/kursi te bætho # /

* /kursi de te bætho # /
```

3.4.1. Connectives

3.4.1. The following connectives occur in Panjabi:

/te/ 'and'

/per/ 'but'

/nale/ 'also'

/ki/ 'that'

/te/ and /per/ occur after /#/ and /,/ in the spoken
and
variety/only after /,/ in the written.

/ki/ occurs only after /,/ on both spoken and written levels.

/nale/ occurs only after /#/ on both spoken and written levels.

When /te/ occurs between two singular nouns, these nouns function as plural to agree with the verb phrase as

/món te són kèr geë # / 'Mohan and Sohan went

3.4.2. Most of the words which are considered connectives or conjunctions in traditional grammar are recorded and explained in 3.11. in the section entitled "Coordinates".

3.5. Emphasis

3.5.1. There are four ways to indicate emphasis in a Panjahi sentence:

- (a) by the change of the position of a phrase.
- (b) by intenation,
- (c) by emphatic particles,
- (d) by repetition.

Intonation is independent of emphatic particles but not vice versa i.e. a Panjabi sentence can be emphasized by intonation alone but every emphatic particle must be accompanied by a higher intonation pitch. The rules for the function of intonation patterns with emphatic particles are different in each case.

(a) The phrase to be emphasized occurs at the beginning of a sentence:

(b) Intonational emphasis is indicated by a higher intenation pitch:

(c) The following emphatic particles occur in Panjabi:

3.5.2. /1/

/i/ is the most common emphatic particle in Panjabi. In the written variety, it is generally /hi/. It has the following functional characteristics:

- (a) It can not occur at the beginning of a sentence.
- (b) It emphasizes the phrase it follows. The emphasized phrase takes higher intonation pitch. This higher intonation pitch begins with the first member of the phrase and emphasizes the whole phrase:

'Only unity and cooperation can make man fearless.'

(c) When /i/ and /te/ (another emphatic particle) occur in the same sentence, /i/ is more emphatic than /te/:

/bes ji , teng hi te a grā // / Voc
$$N_3$$
 E E V

'Yes, he was really annoyed.'

- only (d) /i/ occurs/once in a sentence.
- (e) /1/ can not follow "K" words. For definition of "K" words, refer to 3.12.
- (f) /1/ may occur between a repeated noun for emphasis.
 /te/ can not occur in this position. For example,
 /pette i pette/ 'leaves .. emphasis .. leaves' i.e.
 'lots of leaves!
 - * /pette te pette/
- (g) If the verb phrase is to/emphasized with /i/, /i/ must occur after V_1 . /i/ can never occur after V_3 :

(h) If the noun phrase is to be emphasized with /i/, it must precede the verb phrase:

'Sacrifice is the secret of life.'

(i) According to Grahame Bailey, /i/ or /hi/, as it is always in Hindi, means: the following:

When its force is emphatic, the emphasis may be laid either on the actual word immediately preceding, or on the fact as a whole. Sometimes the stress is laid on an act suggesting that it was just about to begin, or was just going on, or had just finished. Sometimes it means "only", "merely" or "at least", or again it may mean "finally", or with difficulty"; and lastly there is the use with "neither ... nor".

Grahame Bailey's reference is about Hindi /hi/, but since Hindi and Panjabi /hi/ are quite the same, it is applicable to both even though it is useless for the understanding of the function and even the meaning of /hi/. The meanings are inferred not because of /hi/ but because of the phrase it emphasizes. The significance of /hi/ or /i/ is functional and any attempt at semantic interpretation is ratioleading and even incorrect. No grammar of Hindi, Urdu or Panjabi to date has given the atructural description of any one of the emphatic particles.

^{1.} Bailey, T.G. <u>Teach Yourself Hindustani</u>, The English Universities Press Ltd., London, 1950. p.124.

3.5.3. /i/, /te/,/ta/, /sei/, /pela/.

(a) Only /ta/ and /pola/ of this group can occur at the beginning of a sentence:

'Then (if that is the case), do send your son for studies (to the school).'

'Well, if you don't have anyone of your own, why do you pile up all this money.'

(b) In non-initial position of a sentence, /te/ and /ta/ are in free variation. With the speakers of /maji/, /te/ is more common and with the speakers of /duabi/ and /malwi/, /ta/ is more common:

'After all you cannot hold people's tongue.'
Also possible:

/loka di jib: ta nei na pheri jandi ///

(c) There can be more than one emphatic particle in one sentence:

/isto egge ta goddi ne jana hi nef si
$$\#$$
 / ns-45 Pp E N_1 V₁ E Neg V_3

'The train was not to go any further.'

'Nobody pays any attention to women.'

'He dare not go.'

(d) In non-initial position of a sentence, /1/
precedes other emphatic particles if they occur in a
sequence:

'So what, if he came (here)?'

'Yes, 1t was Mohan who went.'

'Yes, it was in the city that I saw him.'

(e) When /to/ is not preceded by /i/, it emphasizes the phrase which carries the higher intonation pitch:

'Mohan went to the city.'

or

'Mohan went to the city.'

(f) /sel/ and/pela/ generally emphasize the verb phrase and semantically indicate a sort of 'ultimatum':

'He dare not come.'

'He dare not do it.'

(g) Whereas /te/ is generally preceded by /i/, /sef/ and /pels/ are generally preceded by /te/ or /ta/, both in /maji/ and /malwi/.

'Yes, it was hardly this much.'

% mere nal ave to set , ma onu wekhaunga
$$\#/$$
 N1 Pp V E E N1 N2 V

'Let him come with me, I will show him.'

*Even if I happen/to say this, he shouldn't have gone.

- (h) /sof/ and /pola/ cannot occur in the same sentence.
- (i) If /sof/ or /pela/ occur at the end of a sentence, they are followed by ///:

"He dare not come."

'Let me see it.'

(j) /tã/ occurring at the beginning of a sentence functions like an emphatic connective and always carries high intonation pitch:

'So what?'

ic-19

(k) Initial /ta/ may be immediately followed by /te/. In this case /ta te/ functions as one unit meaning something like 'so then':

'So he won't go with us.'

A few more examples for /te/ and /ta/:

'The sparrow is Brahman. Isn't she?'

/penj set te mm wi wekhe si
$$\#$$
 / m-105 N_3 E N_1 Ad V

Even I saw some five or seven.

When, at last, Karmo had her daughter married,

she was eighteen years old.

/rizek tã reb ne rej ke ditta homa e # / ic-24
$$N_3$$
 E N_1 V_{P_1} V_{P_2}

'God has given plenty of things.'

3.5.4. /khã/

/kha/ is colloquial and is rarely used in the written language. It functions very much like /sef/ and /pela/.

Whereas /sef/ and /pela/ cannot occur in the same sentence,

/pela/ and /kha/ can, /kha/ preceding /pela/.

The second sentence is slightly more emphatic than the first.

3.5.5. /ju/

/i/ and /ju/ have similar intonation patterns. The following sentences show semantic and functional contrast among /te/, /i/ and /ju/:

'(You are asking about Mohan) Mohan has gone to the city.'
Also possible

'(You are asking about Mohan) Mohan has gone to the <u>city</u>.'

This shift of intonation pattern is not possible in a sentence with /1/ or /ju/.

'Yes, Mohan has gone to the city.'

Since Mohan has gone to the city (why worry).

As with /i/, the phrase preceding /ju/ takes higher intonation pitch.

2 2 1 2 3 /6 othe onda janda reinda e # pind lage

l lu hora # / ic-33

'He usually comes over there. After all, his village is close by.'

3.5.6. /ha/

/ha/ occurs only at the beginning of a sentence and is followed by /,/. Semantically it means something like of course, however.

22 2 3. 1 /ha , sema pa ke doa da reng ikko ho

janda e # / m-26

'Of course, in due course both have the same color.'

/ha , sari de phul her wari wekhre hunde #/m-121
'However, the Sari had a different print every time.'

3.5.7. /hm/

In the written language, /hm/ is usually substituted for /e/ (V3) of the spoken language. However, /hm/ as emphatic particle, is used both in written and spoken Panjabi and cannot be substituted by /e/. As emphatic particle, /hm/ can occur anywhere in the sentence but not interrupting phrase units. At the beginning of a sentence, /hm/ precedes /te/; at any other place in a sentence, /te/ precedes /hm/:

 $\frac{3}{\text{he}}$ to si kana , per bera lok $\frac{1}{2}$ m2-34

Even though he had only one eye, he was very intelligent.

2 3 2 /6 janda to hm ///

'Are you sure, he is going?'

/kerda te ó hæ , per benda kuj nef #/

Even though he tries hard, he doesn't succeed.

3.5.8. /na/

The emphatic /na/ 'no' is always preceded by a verb phrase. When it occurs at the end of a sentence, it is followed by ///. It is a kind of an echo question which does not necessarily require an answer. /na/ occurring after the negative particle /nei/ makes the negative more emphatic.

Examples:

/je mm tere i wet kéd chedda, te cenga si na //
'If I had set you right, it would have been much better,
wouldn't it?'

21 2 3 2 /bes , bebe gella i kern jogi e na /// ic-23

Bebe is good for nothing except talking. Isn't she?

3 2 1 /hm na bora sóna #/ 1c-29

'Isn't he handsome?'

7
/ws hetti wale di gel kerdi e na /// m2-29

'Are you talking about this shopkeeper?'

3.5.9. /ki/

- (a) Emphatic /ki/ always occurs finally, after verb phrase.
- (b) Compare it with /na/ which may or may not occur sentence finally.
- (c) Semantically, it means something like 'after all, that's all'.

/osī deršen i kerne ne ki // m-29
'We just want to pay a visit, after all.'

```
/tusī jana i a kr //

'All you want to do is to go, that's all.'

2 3 2
/ona ona i a kr //

'They will come (why bother?).'

2 3 2
/one krá si kr //
'He did say (so). Didn't he?'
```

3.5.10. /kad-a/

Examples:

- (a) Occurs in a coordinate sentence. For the description of coordinate sentences, refer to 3.11.
- (b) Always precedes as verb phrase. Compare /ki/and /na/which always follow (as verb phrase.
 - (c) Inflected for gender-number.

```
/hetti kadi si , khan si # / m2-26

'That wasn't just a shop, that was a mine.'

/admi kada si , de si # /

'He wasn't just a man, he was a giant.'

/ me gel kadi ker beitha , o mere gel i pm grā / /

'I just happened to say this and he was after me like anything.'
```

3.5.11. /thóra/

(a) Negatively emphasizes the sentence:

/me thóra akhra si #/

- (b) Occurs in the frame Np + /thora/ + Vp
- (c) Inflected for gender-number:

/ó thóre geð sen #/

'They didn't go. Did they?'

This inflection, however, is optional. We can also have:

3 1 /ó thó<u>r</u>a goð sen # /

(d) Like /1/, it emphasizes the preceding phrase with a high intonation pitch:

3 2 1
/esī thóra khédde sā othe # /
'we weren't playing there.'

3.5.12. Emphasis by repetition

Sometimes adjectives, adverbs and verbs are repeated for emphasis:

(a) /kala/ 'black'

/kala kale/ 'dark black'

/kala kale beddel/ 'dark black clouds'

- (b) /jeldi/ 'quickly'
 /jeldi jeldi/ 'at once'
 /ő jeldi jeldi aza # / 'He came in a hurry.'
- (c) /pējda/ 'running'
 /pējda pējda/ 'running fast'
 /ő pējda pējda aza # / 'He came running.'

A verb can be repeated only in Vp_1 . For the definition of Vp_1 , refer to 3.9.

3.6. Negatives

There are three negative particles in Panjabis /na/, /nei/ and /na/.

/ná/ is nominal. For gender and number, it is construed feminine singular and is not inflected for for any other gender or number.

/nef/ and /na/ have the following functional characteristics:

(a) Only /noi/ is used for a negative answer.

(b) When /nof/ occurs / a verb phrase, it is immediately rollowed by V_3 , and V_1 follows V_3 .

For definitions of V_1 and V_3 , refer to 3.9.

(c) /na/ occurring at the end of a sentence negatively emphasizes the sentence and the whole sentence functions as an echo question. In this position, /na/ is followed by ///. For /na/ functioning as an emphatic, refer to 3.5.8.

2 3 2 /6 grā si na // 'He went. Didn't he?'

(d) Only /na/ can be used in a frame like /kiá na kiá/ said or not said (whether I say or not) where the same word is repeated for emphasis.

2 3 1
/mere kiá na kiá ik beráber #/
'Whether I say or not doesn't make any difference.'

(e) If /noi/and /na/ occur in the same semitence, /noi/precedes /na/, and also takes higher intonation pitch.

/nef te na sef // 'If no, let it be no (what do

(f) A coordinate construction like /na ...,na.../
neither ... nor . can be formed only with /na/.

/na i ó ker ara , na on koi kem i kita //

'Neither he came home, nor did he do anything.'

(g) Only /na/ is used in imperative constructions.

/ethe na beltho # / Do not sit here.

(h) Only /na/ can be repeated for emphasis.

/mere na na kordia o cela gia #/
'In spite of my insistence (that he shouldn't go),
he left.'

5.7. Adverbs

Words which occur in the following test frames are considered adverbs:

```
1. /ó ... ala si # / 'He ... came.'
     /hune/
                                  now
     /0.1/
                                  today
     /kel/
                                  tomorrow ~ yesterday
      /perso/
                      day-after-tomorrw - day-before-
                                          yesterday
      /éthe/
                                  here
      /othe/
                                  there
      /kodo/
                                  when
      /jeld1/
                                  quickly
      /holi/
                                  slowly
      /ked1/
                                  sometimes
      /kIwe/
                                  how
      /k13/
                                  why
      /kidda/
                                  how
      /akher/
                                  after all
      /méeã/
                                  hardly
       etc.,etc.
```

```
II. / ..., pher ki home # / ..., then what?
      /pela/
                                      well,
      /celo/
                                      let it be,
      /cauga/
                                      0.k.,
      /eccha/
                                      all right,
       etc., etc.
                                     'He ... said.'
III. /one ... akhia si # /
         /k1/
                                         what
         /kedő/
                                         when
          /kiwe/
                                         how
          /k10/
                                         why
          /kitthe/
                                         where
          /kidda/
                                         how
                                     'He ... did.'
 IV. /one ... kiti # /
           /bes/
                                         stop(ped)
           /khetem/
                                         finish(ed)
           /suru/
                                         begin (began)
            etc., etc.
 In type I, /jeldi/, quickly', /holi/ 'slowly',
```

repeatable for emphasis.

/kedi/ 'sometimes', /jiwe/ 'as', /mesa/ 'hardly' are

/o jeldi jeldi ara si # / He came very quickly.

/kedi/ occurring by itself must be followed by some emphatic particle, generally /wi/ 'assertive', or /nef/ 'negative'.

/pawe/ cannot be immediately followed by /wi/ or /i/ emphatics.

Adverbs of type II are always immediately followed by /,/. They can never be repeated.

Type III are all question markers and may be called "K" words since all of them begin with 'k'.

Type IV are always in construct with a verb phrase.

3.8. Noun Phrases

3.8.1. A typical Panjabi noun phrase is:

The order $A_1 + A_2 + A_3$ is obligatory.

Besides this, there are the following noun phrase constructions in Panjabi:

3.8.2. with the use of postpositions, mainly /da/ 'of':

(a) /hetha resoi wic, éna di pelethi di ti ,
Loc N₁

ethara sala di widia , tebber di roti
N₃

tiar ker rehi si # / ss-43

eldest
Below, in the kitchen, their/daughter, eighteen
years old Widya, was cooking dinner for the family.

Noun phrases:

their of palethi of daughter

i.e. their daughter of palethi

/pelēthi/ is a word for the first born child

eighteen years of Widya

i.e. Widya, (of) eighteen years old or eighteen years old Widya

$$\frac{1}{N}$$
ebber di roti/

family of dinner

i.e. dinner for the family

(b) /sapur de ilake di puri pa wali retli

N1

zemīn sewēr de canen wic cemek ref si //
Loc V

The brown shaded sandy soil of the Shahpur area was

Noun phrase:

(c) /us nu dadi benen da cao si # / ss=107 N_2 N_3

'She was eager to become a grandmother.'

shining in the morning light.

Noun phrase:

/dad1 benen da cao/ N V p N grandmother to become of eagerness

1.e. eagerness to become a grandmother

3.8.3. Noun phrase apposition

(a) /jedő rupã , raje rani di tì , pèr jewān Crd N₁ N_h ho geī # / m-126

'When Rupan, the daughter of the king and queen, attained maturity -'

Rupan king queen of daughter

i.e. Rupan, the daughter of the king and queen

(b) /heri sín di we \underline{dd} i nú , nend kor , kuj N $_h$ ejéi hi supagi nú si # / s-41 V

'The eldest daughter-in-law of Hari Singh, Nand Kaur, was such a fortunate daughter-in-law.'

Hari Singh of eldest daughter-in-law , Nand Kaur i.e. the eldest daughter-in-law of Hari Singh, Nand Kaur

3.8.4. with the use of connectives followed by the postposition /da/ before the last noun:

/pichle poñjá salā di ménet gem te keš<u>t</u> da Ni iwz mil jawe #/ ss-lll

May he get the reward of the last fifty years of hard work, worry and hardship.

Noun phrase:

/pichle penjá sala di ménet gem te kešt da iwz/AAN pNNCNPN
last fifity years of hardwork worry and hardship
of reward

i.e. the reward of the last fifty years of hardwork, worry and hardship

- 3.8.5. repetition of the same adjective for emphasis
- (a) /here here bute/
 A A N

 green green plants

 i.e. deep green plants
- (b) /é khuš hən , bốt khuế , jiker sunári kirne N₁ N_h V A N₄ Ad N_h cummia kẽwel # / gs-9

'She is happy, very happy, as the golden-rays-kissed Kamal.'

3.8.6. with a noun-noun compound

/candi keman di tar/ N N p N

silver bow of line

i.e. the line of silver-bow

3.8.7. with a noun-verb compound

/sunari kırna cummıa kõwel/ gs-9 A N V N golden rays kissed Kamal

3.8.8. with several adjectives

/duje de khiāl nal perpur , mitthe muskande , N_1 gusse to bilkul khali hen # / gs-10

She is thoughtful of others, sweet, smiling, and entirely

Noun phrases:

- (a) /duje de khiāl nal perpur/
 A p N p A

 other of thought with filled
- i.e. thoughtful of others

without anger.'

(b) /mitthe muskande/A A sweet smiling

- (c) /gusse to bilkul khali/
 N p A A

 anger from absolute empty

 1.e. entirely without anger
- 3.8.9. adjectives occurring after the construction N + V

/bekló de wic ik choni hundi si , beri weddi #/R
Loc N₁ V A

There was a cantonement in Hakloh, a very big one. (There was a very big cantonement in Bakloh.)

3.8.10. one adjective before /,/, others after /,/

- (a) /dine di ma sun hoi kheri si , ekkhã khulliã Nl Vpl Vp2 A te leb bend # / ss-88
 - 'Dina's mother was standing senseless, open eyes and closed lips. (Dina's mother, with open eyes and closed lips, was standing there senseless.)'
- (b) /belwenti sóni si , pèria beden , gora ren ,
 N1 N4 V A A A

 ucca ked , motiā ekkhā , cera mettha # / m2-151
 A A A A

 'Balwanti was beautiful, (had a) well formed body,
 (was of) fair color, tall in stature, (with) big eyes,
 (and) broad forehead.'

3.8.11. with a verb phrase

- (a) /bari wic khel5ti kuri/
 N p V N
 window in standing girl
 i.e. the girl standing by the window
- (b) /ménet nal sámbia hola serīr/
 N p V V N

 hardwork with preserved body

 i.e. a body preserved by hard work
- (c) /sóna neroza serīr , werzīš te ménet te legen A A N C N C N nal sámbia hoza/

'A beautiful, healthy body, preserved by exercise and hardwork and attention'

3.8.12. with coordinate words

/é nojwan , babe de wedde perà da , jo keī A N N p A N p Crd A sal da perlok gemen ker grā si , pota si # / ss-118 N p N N V1 V2 V3

'This young man, of Baba's elder brother, who several years ago had gone to the other world, was a grandson' i.e. This young man was a grandson of Baba's elder brother who had died several years ago.'

3.9. Verb Phrases

3.9.1. A verb phrase in Panjabi may consist of one to three verbs. Not all verbs can occur in all the three positions in a verb phrase. If a verb phrase has three verbs in it, the first member will be called V_1 , the second V_2 and the third V_3 . For example, a typical Panjabi verb phrase is

All verbs which can occur in the position of /pharia/are V_1 . All verbs which occur in the position of /gis/are V_2 and the verbs which occur in the position of /si/are V_3 . Only the following verbs or auxiliaries occur as V_3 :

Imperfective

Perfective

In the written variety, the third person singular imperfective is usually /he/, and the third person plural is /hen/.

All other verbs can occur as V_1 but only some of the $V_1^{\rm s}$ can occur as V_2 s. The criterion that determines the occurrence of V_1 as V_2 is entirely lexical. For further description of V_2 s, refer to 3.9.6.

- 3.9.2. There can be two verb phrases in a sentence. These are called Vp1 and Vp2. V3s can occur only in Vp2. A verb phrase does not always have all three verbs or even two verbs. Any one of these verbs can occur alone or with other verbs. However, not all tense forms can occur in a given position. For example, future tense formation cannot occur as V1. unless it occurs alone. Only infinitive, present and past tense forms can occur as V2 in Vp2. Present perfect and past perfect forms can occur only in Vp1 and they always occur alone i.e. verb phrases by themselves. Lexically and formally the same verbs are repeated for emphasis only in Vp1. Furthermore, only 'presentII', 'present perfect', infinitive', and 'obligatory' forms can be repeated. And if a sentence has Vp1, it must have Vp2 also but not vice versa.
- 3.9.3. When the negative /nef/ is in construct with a verb phrase consisting of V_1 V_3
- (a) the sequence will be /nef/ V_3 V_1 as opposed to the normal alsequence V_1 V_3 :

(b) only perfective V₃ can occur in a verb phrase in construct with /nef/:

3.9.3.1. For coordination or balance, V_1 V_2 coordinate with /n = 1/4 V_3 :

3.9.4. There is a gender-number concord within a verb phraæ. All those verb forms which inflect for gender-number agree with each other within a phrase. Furthermore, a verb phrase agrees with a noun phrase according to the rules discussed in the section on 'Sentence Concord' 3.10.

3.9.5. The following tables show the possible combinations of different types of verbs. Table I shows combinations (marked x) with imperfective or perfective V_3 s, or with /p/, i.e. no V_3 , or in subordinate position, i.e. these verbs occur only before a V_2 or in construct with some postposition. Table II shows the possible combinations of V_1 s and V_2 s. These possibilities are based only on tense inflections. There are several restrictions on stem combinations which are entirely lexically conditioned. The description of these restrictions does not come under the scope of this work. However, we have, in table III, a sample of the possible combinations with seven V_2 s and a hundred V_1 s.

Table I

	/a/	/s1/	/6/	subordinate
Present I	x		х	
Present II	x	x	x	
Present Perfect			x	
Past	x	x	x	
Past Perfect			x	
Fu tur e			x	
Imperative			x	
Polite Imperative			x	
Hortative			x	
Optative	x	x	x	
Infinitive	x	x	x	
Conditional Infinitive				x
Imperfect Infinitive				x
Obligatory				x

x is occurrence

```
Examples:
Present I + /a/
    /mae jana a #/
                          'I am going.'
Present I + Ø
    /me jana // 'I am going.'
(Present I occurs only for first person singular and plural
and second person singular.)
Present II + /a/
   /mm janda ã # /
                                'I am going.'
Present II + /s1/
    /mm janda si #/
                                'I was going.'
Present II + ø
    /me janda #/
                                'I am going.'
Present Perfect + 6
    /me jandıã i ónu krá si #/ 'I asked him as
     N<sub>1</sub> Vp<sub>1</sub> E N<sub>2</sub> Vp<sub>2</sub>
                                       soon as I arrived.
Past + /a/
   /6 giã a # /
                                'He has gone.'
Past + /si/
    /60 gil 81 # /
                                 'He had gone.
Past + 6
    /6 g18 # /
                                 'He went.'
Past Perfect + 6
    /onu giā nu kinna cir ho giā # / 'It is long since
No Vp1 p Ad Vp2 he left.'
      No Vpl p Ad
```

```
Future + 6
    /ó jáega #/
                                'He will go.'
Imperative + 6
    /óthe já # /
                                'Go there.'
Polite Imperative + p
    /othe jaI #/
                                'Please go there.'
Hortative + p
                                'May I mo.'
    /man jawa ///
Optative + /a/
    /ewe jaida a # /
                                'This is how(you) should go.'
Optative + /si/
    /ẽwe jaida si #/
                                'This is how (we) used to go.'
Optative + 6
    /ewe jaida # /
                                *This is how (you) should go.
Infinitive + /a/
    /mm jana ã # /
                                'I have to go.'
Infinitive + /si/
                                'I had to go.
    /mme jana si # /
Infinitive + 6
    /mm jama # /
                                "I am going."
Conditional Infinitive in subordinate position
     /o jan legga si # / 'He was about to go.'
```

```
Imperfect Infinitive in subordinate position
```

/6 jano na rá sakia # / 'He could not help going!
Obligatory in subordinate position

/one phor lis #/ He caught (him).

					Table		II									
٦,	ري م	~	℃	i	~	¢,	Q	~	CC.	0	10	11	12	13	14	
1. Present I																
2. Present II					×		×	×	×	×				×		
3. Present Perfect				×								×				
4. Past			×		×		×	×	×	×		×				
5. Past Perfect																
6. Puture																
7. Imperative																
8. Polite Imp													•			
9. Hortative																
10. Optative																
ll. Infinitive			×		×							×				
12. Conditional Inf			×		×		×	×	×	×	×	ĸ	×			
13. Imperfect Inf															×	
14. Obligatory		×	×		×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	

x is occurrence

```
Examples:
Present II + Past
    /ó turda giā #/
                             'He went on foot.'
Present II + Future
    /o turda jaega # / 'He will go on foot.'
Present II + Imperative
    /karda já //
                              'Go on doing.'
Present II + Polite Imperative
                              'Please go on doing.'
    /kerda jaī # /
Present II + Hortative
    /me kerda jawa // May I go on doing.
Present II + Imperfect Infinitive
    /ó ono derda si # / 'He was afraid to come.'
Present Perfect + Present Perfect
    /one andia andia kiá // He told (us) on the way.
Present Perfect + Infinitive
/turdia jana thik nof #/ 'It is not good to walk.'
Past + Present II
    /o nessia janda si # / 'He was running.'
Past + Past
    /o nessia ara # / He came running.
Past + Future
    /ó nessia jáega # / 'He will go running.'
```

```
Past + Imperative
    /nessia já # /
                               4 Run.
Past + Hortative
    /turia jawa ///
                              'May I walk.
Past + Infinitive
    /one turia jana si // 'He would have kept on
                               walking.
Infinitive + Present II
    /onu jana peinda si # / 'He had to go(in the past).'
                          (He used to go under pressure)
Infinitive + Past
    /onu kerna piā // 'He had to do.'
Infinitive + Infinitive
    /onu jama pæma a # / 'He will have to go.'
Conditional Infinitive + Past
    /onu jan leggiã peta legga #/
              'He came to know only when he was leaving.'
Conditional Infinitive + Future
    /ó kel kern léggega # / 'He will start tomorrow.'
Conditional Infinitive + Imperative
    /khéden já #/
                              'Go (and) play.
Conditional Infinitive + Polite Imperative
    /éder al #/
                             'Please come here.'
```

```
Conditional Infinitive + Hortative
    /mm khédon jawã // 'May I go (and) play.'
Conditional Infinitive + Optative
    /estra nei khéden jaida # / 'You shouldn't go to
                                  play like this.
Conditional Infinitive + Infinitive
    /me khéden jana # / 'I have to go (and ) play.'
Conditional Infinitive + Conditional Infinitive
    /khéden jan da ki der a #/
                 'There is no harm in going out to play.'
Imperfect Infinitive + Obligatory
    /ó khédno ræ giā # / 'He cannot play any more.'
Obligatory + Present I
    /me ker leine ä #/ 'I will do it.'
Obligatory + Present II
    /o ker leinda a # / 'He can do it.'
Obligatory + Past
    /one ker lia #/
                       He has done it.
Obligatory + Future
    /ó ker leéga #/
                        'He will do it.'
Obligatory + Imperative
                               'Db 1t.
    /ker lm #/
Obligatory + Polite Imperative
    /ker lef # /
                               'Please do it.'
```

```
Obligatory + Hortative

/mm ker lowa /// 'May I do it.'

Obligatory + Optative

/estra ker leida a # / 'This is how it is done.'

Obligatory + Infinitive

/mm ker loma a # / 'I will do it.'

Obligatory + Conditional Infinitive

/étho tur pam da kei der nef # /

leaving
 'There is no harm in/this place.'

Obligatory + Imperfect Infinitive

/tur pame her ki couga a # /

'What is better than leaveng this place?'

Obligatory + Obligatory

/énu nep kut ke rekkho # / 'Please keep it very

carefully.'
```

```
3.9.6. There are two types of Vos. Type I are those Vos
which can occur with almost any V1. The meanings of these
V2s are easily definable. Some of these V2s are the following:
/sekna/ 'to be able to'
    /me é kem ker sekda ã # / 'I can do this work.'
/legna/ 'to begin'
    /mm é kem kern legga ã #/ 'I am going to begin
                                     this work.
/hons/ 'to be' indicates 'used to'
    /mm é kem kerda hunda sã # / 'I used to do this
                                      work.
/pana/ 'to lie' indicates 'to have to'
    /meInu é kem kerna poma # / 'I will have to do this
                                    work.
/rana/ 'to be, to live' indicates 'to continue'
    /me é kem kerda riá # / I went on doing this
                                    work.
/bana/ 'to sit' indicates 'to finish' or to have
        happened to do'
     /mm é kem ker bætha # / 'I happened to do this
```

work.

```
/kerna/ 'to do' indicates the taking place of whatever
action is implied by V<sub>1</sub>

/mm of the bethia kerda sa #/ 'I used to sit there.'

/lama/ 'to take' indicates 'to finish'

/mm of kem ker lis #/ 'I have done this work.'
```

3.9.6.1. Type II are those V_2s whose occurrence is lexically conditioned. These V_2s serve as emphatics. In table III, we have shown possible combinations of seven of these V_2s with a hundred V_1s . The occurrences are marked with "x". These V_2s are:

```
/dena/ 'to give'
/cheddna/ 'to leave'
/jana/ 'to go'
/pona/ 'to put'
/sutna/ 'to throw'
/rekkhna/ 'to keep'
/kètna/ 'to force'
```

The preliminary meanings of these V_2 s are of no significance. As V_2 s they are merely emphatics.

Table	TTT
THULU	111

		/đ é/	/chad/	sá/	/po/	/s u <u>t</u> /	/rokh/	/ket/
/u <u>n</u> /	'knit'	x	x			x	x	
/uk/	'miss'			x				
/ u <u>d</u> /	fly			х	x			
/udik/	'wait'		x	x				
/ug/	'sprout'		x	x	x			
/u <u>t</u> h/	'stand'		x	x	x			
/akh/	say!	ж	х	x			x	
/pur/	'rill'	x	х	x		х	x	x
/púñj/	'wipe'	x	x	ж		x	x	x
/po/	*lie*							
/pen/	'break'	х.	x	x		x	x	×
/p1/	drink	ж	×	x		x	x	x
/pun/	'ronst'	x	x	x		x	x	x
/pul/	'forget'		×	x				
/p 1 /	grind'	x	x ·	x		x	x	x
/to <u>r</u> /	'break'	x	x	х	х	x	x	х
/tor/	'swim'		x	x	x			
/ter/	enub'	x	x	x			x	
/tii/	*pull*	x	x	x		x	x	x
/ta/	'heat'	x	x	x			x	

•

		/d é/	/chod/	/já/	/po/	/8 u <u>t</u> /	/rekh/	/ket/
/těk/	push'	x	x	ж	x	x	×	
/to <u>l</u> /	'fry'	x	x	x			ж	
/tan/	'spread'	×	x	x			x	
/to <u>l</u> /	'weigh'	x	x	x		x	x	x
/ku/	'speak'				x			
/kuter/	'cut'	x	x	x		x	x	×
/kos/	'tighten'	×	x	x			x	
/kur/	'rebuke'		x					
/kel/	'send'	х	x	x		x		
/k ⁶ /	'say'	x	x	x		x		
/ke1/	'cover'	x	x	x			x ·	
/ker/	¹do¹	x	x	x		x	x	x
/ká <u>r</u> /	boil'	х	X	x			x	
/ker/	*pour*	x	x	x				
/ku <u>t</u> /	'beat'	×	x	x		x		x
/ko <u>r</u> /	'chisel'	X	x	x		х	x	
/k ò<u>l</u>/	'mix'	x	x	x		z	x	
/kuc/	*brush*	x	x	x		x	x	
/bol/	*speak*	x	x	x	x			
/bij/		x	x	x		x	x	x
/pec/	'careful'			x	x			
/bə <u>n</u> /	'be'		x	x	x			

		/đ é /	/chod/	/já/	\ag\	/s ហ្ <u>t</u> /	/rekh/	/ket/
/bm/	'sit'		x	x				
/boc/	'catch'			x				
/ba <u>l</u> /	burn'	x	x	x		x	x	x
/d é /	'give'		×	x			x	
/fep/	'grind'	x	x	×	x	x	x	x
\des/	'tell'	x	x	x				
/ <u>d</u> ol/	'waver'			x	x			
/ <u>d</u> ob/	'drown'	×	x	x		x	x	ж
/ <u>d</u> 1g/	'fall'				x			
/ <u>d</u> əs/	'sting'			×				
<u>/d</u> or/	'fear'			x	ж			
$/\underline{d}ek/$	'stop'	x	x	x			x	
/dat/	snub*	x	x	х			x	
/jokh/	'weigh'	×	x	×		x		
/30/	'hitch'	x	×	x			x	
/jop/	'recite'		x	×			x	
/jor/	'join'	x	x	x		x	x	×
/jac/	'examine'	x	x	x			x	
/jag/	'wake'				x			
/jeg/	'lighten'			x	x			
/já/	'go'		x		X			

		/dé/	/ched/	/já/	/oq/	/8 U <u>t</u> /	/rekh/	/ket/
/jan/	*know*		x					
/jor/	'bear'	x	×	x				
/jir/	'absorb'			x				
/jrt/	'win'	x	x	x		x	x	
/g 6 /	'sing'	x	x	x				
/ <u>t</u> ep/	'jump'	×	×	x	x			
/ <u>t</u> è/	demolish demolish	x	×	x		x		x
/ <u>t</u> àl/	*melt*	x	x	x		x	x	x
/ <u>t</u> ò/	'oarry'	×	x	x		x		x
#tuk/	'cut'	x	x	x		x		x
/ <u>tal</u> /	'evade'	x	x	x		x	x	
/ <u>t</u> ik/	'rest'		x	x	x			
/cup/	suck*	x	x	x		x	x	x
/cur/	'grieve'		x	x	X			
/car/	*sweep*	x	x	x		x	x	x
/cak/	peep!	x	x	x				
/ces/	'rub'	x	x	x				
/cə <u>nd</u> /	sharpen'	×	x	x		x	x	x
/cər/	'graze' 'milk'		x	ж		x		x
/co/	'milk'	×	x	x	x			x
/cik/	'cry'		x	x	x			

		/dé/	/chod/	/já/	/po/	/ខហ្ស្/	/rekh/	/ket/
/cób/	'pierce'	x	x	x		x	x	x
/oug/	peck!	x	x	x				x
/cel/	'suffer'	x	x	x				
/cù1/	*swing*		x	x	x			
/cek/	'hesitate'			×		,		
/pher/	'move'	x	x	×		×		x
/phuk/	'burn'	x	x	x		x	x	ж
/thuk/	'spit'	x	x	х		x		
/thirk/	'slip'			x	x			
/thok/	'fix'	x	x	×		x	x	x
$/\underline{t}$ hek $/$	'print'	x	x	х		x	x	x
/chil/	'peal'	x	x	x	x	×	x	x
/cher/	'tease'	x	x	x				
/khá/	'eat'	×	x	x				
/80/	'sleep'	x	x	x				
/su <u>n</u> /	'hear'	x	x	x	x		x	
Total	Occurrences	68	85	92	26	42	47	33

 $v_1 = 100$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

3.9.7. Besides combinations of different types of verbs, there are, in Panjabi, adjective-verb combinations and noun-verb combinations. The verbs which are in construct with adjectives and nouns are from the V2s already discussed. The most common verbs in these constructions are /kerns/ 'to do, /dena/ 'to give' and /lana/ 'to take'. These combinations are lexically conditioned.

Examples:

```
love do i.e. to love

/yad kerna/

remember do i.e. to remember

/dena/ /widia deni/

education give i.e. to educate

/tokha dena/

deceit give i.e. to deceive

/lana/ /akh lana/

say take i.e. to say

/wa lana/

plowing take i.e. to plow
```

These phrases are called 'Conjuct Verbs' by Grahame Bailey. 1

Bailey, op. cit. p.79.

- 3.10. Sentence Concord
- 3.10.1. There are four types of noun-verb concords:
 - I. Where Vp agrees with N_1 in gender-number: $N_1 + (N_2 + nu) + V$

N₂ may or may not occur and also when it does occur, /nu/ may or may not follow it.

- II. Where V_{p} agrees with N_{3} :
 - (a) $N_1 + ne + (N_3) + V$
 - (b) N_1 +ne + $(N_2 + nu) + N_3 + V$

The verb phrase agrees with N_3 which follows N_1 or with N_3 which the verb phrase refers to. This N_3 may be in a previous sentence. For further explanation of intersentence relationships, refer to 3.11.

- III. Where Vp agrees with both N_1 and N_h : $N_1 + N_h + V$
- IV. Where there is no noun-verb agreement; the Vp in this type is always 'perfective':

$$N_1 + ne + (N_2 + nu) + V$$

3.10.2. The nouns which occur in the following test frame in the position of son/ are n_1 , which occur in the position of mon/ are n_2 , and which occur in the position of /piāli/ are n_3 :

/són ne món nu piāli ditti #/

$$N_1$$
 N_2 N_3 V

Sohan gave Mohan a cup.

The nouns which occur in the following test frame in the position of /cenga admi/ are $N_{\rm A}$:

3.10.3. Masculine plural forms are used for masculine and feminine singulars to show respect. This is only semantic differentiation. There is no change in sentence concord patterns.

3.10.4. Type I

Pattern Sentences

/món meinu milia #/ 'Mohan met me.' N_1 N_2 V

Examples:

- 1. /bimla is doran wid luk thip ke des de

 N1 Pp Vp1 Pp

 ik kone to duje kone wid phirdi ref // ss-193

 Pp Vp2

 'Bimla, during this period moved about secretly from one end of the country to the other.'
- 2. /newember unni so ethara wic , jeng de Pp

 zemane to piccho , ik beri weddi bimari per #/

 N1

 *In November 1918, after the war was over, there
 was a big epidemic.*
- 3. /ó apne becciá diá šerártá nu pesend kerdi si # / V s-84

 She liked the mischievious acts of her children.

h. /ố v<u>đ</u> ke ap<u>n</u>e pi \bar{o} de kếr bəl \bar{a} spur , jo v_1 V v_1 Loc Crđ

lódiabad de zíle wic si , puj jana cóndi si #/ Pp V Vp_2

'She wanted to fly over to her parents' home which was in Belaspur in the district of Lodhiabad.'

5. /barã salã da penna bezār wicco khéd mel

ke thekkie are #/ ss-45

'Twelve year old Panna came with a tired body after playing in the bazar.'

- 6. /rob itnia sodia to kerda ara he # / ss-139
 N1 Pp V
 God has been doing this for centuries.
- 7. /rebbi cokker te céri kudret sunderta wic

'Nature, riding on the divine wheel, is moulding herself into eternal beauty.'

8. /sóne menükh di intzar wic zemin esman

perkerma kor reé hen # / g-123

'The earth and the sky are circumambulating, waiting for the arrival of the "beautiful" (super) man.'

- 9. /zındgi di khéd jiundi edőlta mengdi hæ # / g-27 N_1 N_2 V The game of life demands living stability.
- 10. /sóne msan de sóne hirde nalő kol sóni ciz

na wekhi na soci gef he # / g-117 Neg V Neg

A more beautiful thing then a keen mind of a graceful man is neither seen nor thought of.

ll. /hum munši da petria wi sari umer kuāra Ad Nl Ad Ad N-V hi reega #/ m2-37

'Now, Munshi's nephew will remain a bachelor all his life.

- 12. /sadi kismet wi kise din pelta kháegi # / s-131
 Nl Ad Ad N-V
 'Maybe our fate will also change someday.'
- 13. /petni gusel khane kepre ton celi gel # / m2-19
 Nl Loc Vpl Vp
 'The wife went to the bathroom to wash clothes.'

14. /ónæ wic rele hoe raja sáb de kuj deru N l

'Gathered among them were some frightened voters of Raja Sahib.'

15. /meri nastek ruci meinu apni ma tõ mili he #/ N1 N2 Pp V 8-77

'I received my atheistic tendency from my mother.

3.10.5. Type II

Pattern Sentences

/món ne roti khádi # / 'Mohan ate bread.'

/món ne són nu roti ditti # / 'Mohan gave Sohan
$$N_1$$
 N_2 N_3 V bread.'

Examples:

- 1. /us admi ne pasa pertia # / ss-83

 N1

 That man changed his side.
- 2. /bazar wac hor loka ne taria maria // da-58
 Pp N1 N3 V

 The people in the bazar clapped (in disapproval).

Joans de hara kar nakar de hawale kita Nova de Nova de hawale kita per volumente de hawale kita per

hora si # / da-36

Babuani had left her home in care of the corvent.

4. /hušnāk sín ne nikkiā nikkiā tiāriā apnt N_1

pæn de wiá diā šuru ker dittiā # / da-91

'Hushnak Singh started preparing things for his sister's wedding.'

5. /pertheri ne ik din jogia di leggi mejles N1 Ad Pp

wic binm kiti # / wa-132

'One day, in a meeting of the Yogis, Bharthari made a request.'

- 6. /dine nu reb ne ik rup nei si ditta #/ss-92
 N2 N1 Neg V3 V1
 'God had not blessed Dina with handsomeness.'
- 7. /ik din master ne dine nu do tin cepērā
 Ad N1 N2 N3

 thok mariā # / ss-91

'One day, the master slapped Dina a couple of times.'

- 8. /óne te setgur ne canna pa ke óna di esli Pp N_1 $N-Vp_1$ N_3
 - kimet kur dikha ditti #/ wa-219

'The Satguru brought light to them and made them realize their real worth.'

- 9. /hushmak sin ne é khabar apne dostā nu dassi # / $^{N}1$ $^{N}3$ $^{N}2$ $^{N}2$ da-90
 - 'Hushnak Singh told this thing to all his friends.'
- 10. /akher siri guru ji ne saria te bija pai #/
 Ad N1 Pp N3 V
 ws-132

'At the end Siri Guru Ji won over everyone.'

- 11. / munši raj sin nal us din to bád sewern sin Pp Pp \mathbb{N}_1
 - ne zoban sáñji nei kiti #/ ns-100

'Since that day Sawarn Singh has never talked to Munshi Raj Singh.'

12. /gargi tö məgrö gurdial sin khosla ne pəñjabi Pp N₁

reng moñe de wikās wie séb të wéd hissa paia #/

'After Gargi, Gurdial Singh Khosla contributed most to the Panjabi stage.'

3.10.6. Type III

Pattern Sentences

"Mohan is a very good boy."

/pmlia waia pola ne
$$\#/$$

'The fields are plowed.'

Examples:

- /jenta wi cengi ren meño lei utāwli si # / p-22 1. Ad Pp N, 'The public was also eager for a better stage.'
- ena pera nef # / 2. 'Sohan isn't that bad.'
- /nukker wala mekan bera ucca e #/ 3.
 - *The building at the corner is very tall.*
- /ó búdda admi bót szána e // / Na V 'That old man is very wise.'
- bore tokhe baz hunde ne #/ 5. /wek11 N_1 NA

'The lawyers are very deceiving people.'

3.10.7. Type IV

Pattern Sentences

/m
$$\delta_{\underline{n}}$$
 ne akhia $\#$ / N₁

'Mohan said -'

$$\sqrt{m o_n}$$
 ne son nu dessin # $/$
 N_1 N_2 V

'Mohan told Sohan -'

Examples:

- 1. /sam sunder ne kêr de sare kom nu sembal liā t / N2 V da=32
 - 'Sham Sundar took care of everything at home.'
- 2. /babe ne gol pher ke krá // ss-125
 N1 Vp2
 Changing the topic, Baba said -

*He did not let British education enter the village.

4. /us ne dusre əsīl kukkə \underline{r} nu mar mar ke N_1 N_2

'He beat the other chicken badly.'

- 5. /sam sunder nu est noker kedt wi nef sémjia #/
 N2 N1 A Ad Neg V
 da-32
 - 'We have never treated Sham Sundar as a servant.'
- 6. /is term sare lokm nu babe ne taria #/ wa-74 Ad N2 N1 V Thus Baba saved all the people.

3.11. Coordinates and Coordination

5.11.1. There are a number of coordinates in Panjabi (refer to 'correlatives' 2.22.). The first member of a coordinate pair occurs before /,/, the second immediately following /,/. Besides these special coordinates like /...jedő ..., tedő .../ 'when...then ...', there is general coordination or balance of noun and verb phrases in a sentence with intervening /,/. For example, if before /,/, the verb phrase consists of two verbs, the verb phrase after /,/ will also have two verbs. Another method of coordination is to eliminate the verb phrase after /,/, if the sentence after /,/ refers to semantically the same phrase. In other words, semantically identical verb phrase is not repeated after /,/. None of these rules is absolute, but their observance is common to all Panjabi writers.

Examples: no repetition

/je ó ja sekda si ,
tã tữ wi (ja sekda si) # / exact parallel

'If he could go, you (could go) too.'

Coordination with similar phrase structure

/tusī ede 1 juān o , jeda tuāda wišwaš ,
te ede 1 búdde , jeda tuāda šoņka # / gb-113

'You are young to the extent you have confidence, and old to the extent you have doubts.'

```
/jére din ó caprasi di tarimat hasptel wic raf, Ad N Loc V
```

us nu bakiā wargi khurāk mildi ref , No Pp No V

bakiã wan ódiā cadrā bedeldiā refā , $Pp = N_3 = V$

bakia wan óde bedce nal lad hunde reé 7 / d-83

'All those days when the wife of/peon was in the hospital, She was given food like others, her bed-sheets were changed like others', (and) her children were loved like others'.

/jedő sekhő ne conwiñ peñjābi kehānia da seugré chapna Crd N1 N3

tã mm poñjābi wie póli kehāni meri nani $\operatorname{Crd} N_1$ Pp N_3

kite ,

likhi #/ m-19

'When Sekhon decided to publish a selection of Panjabi shortstories, I wrote my first story in Panjabi, "My Grandmother". Balance with eliminated verb phrase before and after /,/; this kind of balance or coordination is found only in proverbs and idiomatic Panjabi:

/jei ma ,

ujea putter # / m-151

'As (was) the mother, so (was) the scn.'

3.11.2. Besides this coordination within a sentence, there is also the coordination of sentences in a paragraph. For example, the noun phrase which agrees with the verb phrase is not repeated in the subsequent sentences until there is a change of the noun phrase itself. For examples of this type of noun phrase coordination in a paragraph, refer to 3.11.4. For general coordination in a paragraph, refer to 3.11.5. For coordination between two paragraphs, refer to 3.11.6.

3.11.3. Examples of coordinates and coordination within a sentence:

1. /jo ..., so .../ 'who ..., he ...'
 /jo pheria giā ,
 so cor # / m-123
 'He who is caught is a thief.'

Inder peresth di lal engi si # / m-119
"What was "red skirt" in Mauju Majra, was "red jacket"
in Inder Parasth."

/jéra ..., ó .../ 'whoever ..., that ...'
 /jéra nirpò nof ,
 ó edől nof # / gb-31

'He whb is not fearless is not stable.'

4. /je ..., tã .../ 'if ... then'

/per je menukh cáe , tã eari dunia nu ruhāni
C Crd N₁ V Crd N₂ N₃

bena sekda e #/gb-126

But if man wills, he can make this whole world a spiritual dwelling.

5. /...je ..., jā ..., tā tā .../ 'if ... or ... then'
/pèla je pəsu dúd denda howe ,
jā həl wönda howe ,
tā tā gəl hoi // m-h7

'Of course, if the cattle give milk or are useful for plowing, then it is/different matter.'

```
6. /1é1 ... uléa .../ 'as ... so'
     /161 ma ,
      ujéa putter #/ m-151
   'As(was) the mother, so (was) the son.'
7. /inna ..., ona .../ 'as much ...that much'
     /jinna wád
                     likhange .
      one wed pase milnge # / m-88
   The more we write, the more money we get.
8. /jiwē ..., tiwē .../ 'as ... so'
     /jiwe jiwe lorai
                                   wóddi goi ,
     tiwe tiwe loka de dil udas hunde gee //
   'As the was lingered on, the people were being
disheartened. 1
    The repetition of these coordinates is for emphasis.
9. /...jrs ..., ode .../ 'which ... that'
     /ira yuniwarsiti wrc mm
     óde
                      wic tera ku hor hindostani munde
      porda sã ,
      párde son # / g-h9
   In the university where I was studying, there were
about thirteen other students.
```

```
10. /jxtthe ..., othe .../ where ..., there
     /itthe sunderts pay nal
      óthe na zindgi , na rob , to na mézeb de erth
      jori jandi e ,
      sémje jande ne #/ gb-115
    'Where beauty is associated with evil, life and God and
religion have no significance there.
11. /jā ..., jā .../ 'either ..., or'
     /jā ó éthe reéga .
      jā bar jaega #/
   Either he will stay here or go out.
12. /jed ..., ta .../ 'when...then'
     /hun jod jiwon
      tã perēm wan deya kor nu é hor wi
      khetem ho riá si ,
      emolek japen legga # / ss-113
   'Now when life was coming to an end, it seemed even dearer
to Dava Kaur.
15. /jedő ..., odő .../ 'when ..., then'
     /jedő ó ker áega ,
      odo mo bár jáunga #/
   When he comes home, I will go out.
```

```
There are some coordinate pairs where "J" words occur as second members.
```

```
14. /eda ..., jeda .../ 'this much ... that much'

/tusī ede i jewān o , jeda tuāda wīšwaš ,

te ede i būdde , jeda tuāda šenka #/gb-113

'You are young to the extent you have confidence,

and old to the extent you have doubts.'

15. /ona ..., jīmna .../ 'as ..., so'

/admi ona i cenga e ,
```

jinna

ó

mittha howe # /

'The more loving a man is, the better.'

16. /18 ..., jrwe .../ 'as ..., if'
/per 18 japda ,

jiwe do sedia ho gela ne #/ m-89

But it looks as if two centuries have passed.

The following pairs are negative coordinates:

17. /na ..., na .../ 'neither ..., nor'

/mæ na cekōr wekhia si ,

na cekōri #/ m-27

Note the deletion of the verb phrase.

'Neither had I seen Chakor nor Chakori.'

18. /na tã ..., na i .../ 'neither ... nor' (emphatically)

/na tā on éthe koi kem i kita , na i ó šár giā #/

'Neither he did anything useful here, nor did he go to the city.'

- 19. /nef ..., tā na .../ 'if no ... then let be no'
 /cenga nef menna ,
 tā na men # / ic-39
 - 'Well, if you do not agree, who cares.'

3.11.4. The following text demonstrates the noun phrase coordination in a paragraph. The noun with which the verb agrees phrase/is not repeated until there is a change in the agrees noun-verb agreement i.e. until the verb phrase/with some other noun:

/sewere emret wele eje mú cákhra hunda ,
Ad N₁ V

ki ó uthdi , páwe serdia hón páwe germia #
C N₁ V Ad N₃

nà tò ke (ó) path wi kerdi jandi te
Vp₁ N₃ E V C

(ó) dúd dei , cúlle conke da kom wi nejithdi
N₃

```
jandi # sufiā wic , posārā wic , werzā wic
Loc Loc Loc
```

cớwã pase sámbdi selfindi.
$$\#$$
 pher usde nikke Ad V Ad N_1

sewardi sıkerdi # pher (6) roti tukker de
$$V$$
 Ad N_3

ár leg jandi
$$\#$$
 dupárľ (\acute{o}) cerkha le bándi , V

dengrā de pethe detthe da phiker kerdi
$$\%$$

phor (6) rat da roti tukker son to pele Ad
$$N_3$$

becciã nu dewã periã dia kehānia , te estrã C Ad

/6/ within () shows where the noun phrase is omitted in the text. In individual sentences, this is not possible.

Translation of the above text:

'Early morning, when one could hardly see anything, she would get up, whether it was summer or winter. (She) would then take a bath and recite the sacred hymns, and at the same time (she) would take care of the milk and other things in the kitchen. Then (she) would dust off all the rooms, varandhas and so on. (She) would keep everything in order. Then her younger brothers would get up and (she) would dress them properly. Then (she) would be busy cooking the dinner. At noon, (she) would sit beside the spinning wheel, and also begin some kind of knitting. In the afternoon, (she) would take care of the fodder for the cattle. Then at night, (she) would prepare meals, and before the children go to bed (she) would tell then fairy tales; and nobody knows when her eyes were laden with sound sleep.'

3.11.4.1. Sometimes within a sentence, the noun phrase with which the verb phrase agrees, is repeated for emphasis. This can be done only accasionally in a text for stylistic effect:

/mm mekhni nu déssanga, ódi gã, óda pani, óda khet, ódi ediani, te óda pith de ke rõs te bæna, mm kuj nei pullia, kel di gel wan sób kuj yad hæ #/ gs-28

'I will tell Makhni that I have not forgotten anything - her cow, her water, her letter, her Adhiani, and her sitting on the platform with (her) back towards me. I remember everything as if all this happened only yesterday.

3.11.5. General coordination in a paragraph:

/pérna ched sundor wéla phirn leg piā # sara sara $\mathbf{1}$ $\mathbf{N_1}$ A $\mathbf{Vp}_{\mathcal{D}}$ Ad

din gəliğ wic tərwala di təra kunda randa //

mote mote sunshe loka de la de enda #

nikke nikke kom á<u>nd</u> gvá<u>nd</u> de ker che<u>d</u>da # N₃

bazar walı \tilde{a} ne je koi c<u>ıtt</u>hi <u>d</u>ak khane pani hundi , \tilde{v}_1 Loc v

tã énu de che<u>d</u>de # kise helwãi nu je koi ewāra Crd N₂ V N₂ Crd N₃

denger ten ker rié hunda , tã sunder ónu dur tek A V Crd N1 N2 Loc

tik anda # / d-46

'Sundar dropped his studies and started wandering around. All day (he) would be walking aimlessly in the streets like Dharwals. (He) would take messages from one person to another. (He) would do a number of odd jobs for the neighbors. If the people in the bazar wanted to mail any letter, they would give it to him. If some wandering cattle were in the way of some Halwai, Sundar would push them away.'

3.11.6. General coordination of sentences in two subsequent paragraphs:

/ik tã melek umer heyāt khã di teblet tepriwas $rac{1}{2}$

luteria de hettho zekhmi hon procho unj hi drggu Ad E A

 $\underline{\underline{d}}$ ıggű rándi si , dusre jis tərã mələk féte khã V Crd Ad N₁

ne nám benen procho khóa khái te tère bendi šuru Pp N₃ N-

kər ditti si ,us nal dil hor wi uprām ho giā si # V Ord p N, Ad E A-V

ó é janda si , ki melek főte khã ne apni jeddi N_1 A V C N_1

...

dušməni nu mukh rekh ke us di jaedad nu khurd v_{p_1} v_{2}

burd kern di kosıs kiti si # te jedő us nu apni V_{p_2} C Crd N_2 Pp

merzi de ul<u>t</u> melek féte khã da khana damad ben<u>n</u>a V

piā , tā us nu is wie wi melek féte khã di ik Crd N $_2$ Pp Ad N $_3$

komīna cal nezer ai #/

/ó ik bebes peñchi wan si , jéra ki kani nal N_1 N_4 V Crd N_4

béjja hoza kewel perã nu hi pherphera sekda si .

Ad No E V

te ziāda tō ziāda kani nu hi cúnjā marda hoia C Ad No E N_3 Vp₁

apne gusse nu wiërth rup wie zar ker sekda si # N2 Pp A Vp2

jedő ó perá nu pherpheranda har giá , tá us nu Crd N_1 N_2 V Crd N_2

hi apne gusse da nisana bena lia # / n-254 E N3

Translation of the above text:

'Firstly, Malak Umar Hayat Khan was very much disturbed because of his having been wounded by the Tapriwas robbers. Secondly, his mind was even more upset because of Malak Fatch Khan's party politics after the recent building of the canal. He knew very well that Malak Fatch Khan had his ancestoral enmity in mind and for this reason he had been trying to disrupt his (Malak Umar Hayat Khan's) estate. And when against his will he had to become son-in-law of Malak Fatch Khan, he thought that even in this affair Malak Fatch Khan was playing some game.

He was like a helpless bird who fastened to a stick can do no more than flap his wings. At the most he could fight with the stick to give vent to his frustration.

And when he could no more flap his wings, he made this stick the target of his anger.

Note the phrase structure parallelism in the above text. The translation does not tell very much what is involved in the structure of a Panjabi paragraph. However, both the text and the translation do point out some patterns in sentence constructions.

3.12. The two levels of syntax: spoken and written
3.12.1. In literary prose i.e. stories, novels, essays etc.,
the normal syntax patterns are:

I.
$$\frac{2}{m \circ n}$$
 is $\frac{1}{m \circ n}$ giff # / Mohan went to the city. Mohan went to the city.

II.
$$\frac{2}{m \acute{o}_{\underline{n}}}$$
 ne $\frac{2}{s \acute{o}_{\underline{n}}}$ nu wekhia $\#/$ Mohan saw Sohan.

III.
$$\frac{2}{m\acute{o}_1}$$
 ne s \acute{o}_1 nu piāli ditti $\#/$

'Mohan gave Sohan a cup.

IV. /món cenga admi e #/ 'Mohan is a good man.'
$$N_1$$
 N_h

These are the kernel sentences for the written prose.

Once in a while, the order is changed to break the monotony.

This change of order is based upon what is done in the spoken language.

Intonation plays a very important role in the spoken variety. In a conversation, the opening questions are major sentences i.e. Np + Vp pattern and the following dialogue is carried on in minor sentences i.e. single phrase sentences. Even in major sentences, the order of phrases changes, the phrase to be emphasized occurring at the beginning of a sentence. In folk tales or other narratives, the use of /te/ 'and' with practically every sentence is very

The sentences in the narratives are usually major sentences but the order of phrases is not the same as in the written language.

The difference of order between the written and the spoken varieties is shown in the following conversation. For example, we have a question:

(Literary syntax - N_1 + Ad + V)

and the answer is

'To the city.'

or

'(He) went to the city.'

or

(Literary syntax - N1 + Loc + V)

The question

is answered by

'Mohan (did).'

3.12.2. In major sentences, the order of phrases is absolutely free i.e. all types of combinations are possible. The basic constituents are - noun phrases, postpositional phrases, adjective phrases and verb phrases. For various types of adjective and noun phrases, refer to 3.8. For

verb phrases, refer to 3.9. The following three sentences from the written language and their possible variations in phrase order in the spoken variety demonstrate the flexibility in the Panjabi syntax:

'The whole establishment is based on pride.'

This sentence can have the following possible structures:

This sentence has two emphases, one on /home nal/, the other on /sara i karkhana/. Since emphatic /i/ cannot occur at the end of a sentence, it follows /sara/ instead of /karkhana/. This does not make any change in the embpasis since only the first member of the noun phrase takes the higher intonation pitch.

II. The sentence

'Moreover. Bhai Atma Singh was a friend of the Sadhus.'

can have the following structures:

(a) /nale senta de meli sen , pai atma sín
$$\#$$
 /

In this sentence, the phrase /senta de/ is emphasized.

(b) /meli sen nale sentã de , pài atma sín
$$\#$$
 / N4 V C Pp

In this sentence, /meli/ 'friend' is emphasized.

(c) /pài atma síu meli sen nale , sentã de
$$\#/$$

In this sentence, /pai atma sin/ is emphasized.

(d) /nale meli son pai atma sin, senta de
$$\#/$$

Besides this change of order of the phrases, there can be changes in the intonation patterns without changing the phrase order. For intonation patterns, refer to 1.6. and 2.23.

III. The sentence

/bimla is doran wid luk chip ke des de ik
$$N_1$$
 Pp Vp_1 Pp

During this period, Bimla moved secretly from one end of the country to the other.

(Intonation pattern for the above sentence and its subsequent variations is /2 2 1/).

can have the following structures:

- (a) /bimla luk phirdi ref, IS doran chip кe WIC N_1 Pp rqV Vp2 đe kone tõ duje kone WIC des Ik Pp Pp
- /luk phird1 ref (b) chip ke bimla 18 dorān Vp₁ N Pp VqqV des de ık kone tõ duje kone WIC Pp Pp
- ref , (c) phirdi /IS doran WIC bimla luk chip ķe Vp1 Vp2 Pp Na WIC des đe Ik kone tõ duje kone Pp Pp
- (d) /des de tõ duje phirdi rei kone kone WIC Ik cq.V Pp Pp ke #/ luk chip bimla doran WIC IS Vp₁ N_1 Pр
- tõ duje kone (e) /18 doran WIC des đe IK kone Pp Pp ₽p phirdi ref # / ke bimla 1 uk chip WIC Vp2 N₁ Vp1

- (f) des/ tõ de Ik kone du1e kone WIC bimla 18 Pp Nı Pp luk phirdi doran WIC chip ke Vp₁ ۷p2
- /18 (g) doran des đe ık kone tõ duje kone WIC Po Pp Pp phirdi roí bimla luk chip ke WIC ۷p1 N Vpo
- (h) /des tõ duje luk de Ik kone kone WIC chip Pp rgV ref ke IS dorān WIC phird1 bimla Pp

The main purpose of the change of order of the phrases is 'emphasis' and since every sentence in spoken Panjabi is emphasized one way or the other, every possible order is exploited. The phrase or the phrases to be emphasized are put at the beginning of a sentence. The combinations shown above are not merely theoretical possibilties. These changes are very frequent in the spoken variety as demonstrated in the texts to follow. Even in the written variety, the order is not always consistent and according to the so-called norm. The following examples from literature show this phenomenon very clearly.

- 1. /meri duji kani urdu di si , wæran mender # / m-18
 N1 Pp V N4

 'My second story, 'Wairan Mandar', was in Urdu.'

 (normal written order N1 + N4 + Pp + V)
- 3. /pana wertia, to herduari lal mer gia , hadse wic # / N1 V C N1 V Pp m-120

'God so willed that Harduari Lal died in that accident.' (normal written order - N_1 + V , C + N_1 + Pp + V)

4. /hā ji , mera piō kətha kərda hunda si ,
Voc Nı N3 V
gərlb gurbiā de məlliā wic # / m-40

'Yes sir, my father used to exegite in the poor sections of the city.'

(normal written order - Voc , N_1 + Pp + N_3 + V)

7. /kəsūr sara ha , lal kègre da # / m-120 N1 Pp
The whole trouble started with the 'red skirt','

(nommal written order - Pp + A + N_1 + V)

- 6. /bebe , meri te jan suk gel e , phiker nal #/
 Voc N₁ E V Pp
 ic-20

 'Mother, I am scared to death under this pressure.'

 (normal order Voc , N₁ + Pp + V)
- 7. /é cárdiã i hundiã ne , merdã bina # / so-32
 N1 V E Pp

 'Without men, they (women) can make a hell of it.'

 (normal order N1 + Pp + V)
- 8. /jis de kise ne nei gawe sen gun , te nei N2 N1 Neg V N3 C Neg kiti si kirti # / wa-79 V N3

'Neither did anyone sing songs for him nor was he praised.' (normal order - N_1 + N_2 + N_3 + V , C + N_3 + V)

In this kind of coordinate sentence; the normal order unemphatic seems so / that it is inconceivable that the writer could have ever used it.

9. /nit edã i kuttiã gewona hunda en #/ pull7
Ad Ad E N3 V N1

'Everyday the food is spoiled like this.'

(normal order - N1 + Ad + Ad + E + V)

3.12.3. Minor sentences are generally one phrase sentences. In a conversation, the opening questions are major sentences and all the following sentences are minor. For example, if the first question is /e ki a # / 'What is this?', the following question would be simply /te e // 'And that.' There are two ways to form question sentences - by using "K" words and by the use of question intonation. Those questions which have "K" words are answered by suitable substitutions for these "K" words. For a list of "K" words and their substitutes, refer to 3.12.3.1. A question sentence based only on the question intonation is answered by /ha/ 'yes' or /nef/ 'no'. For example, the question /món giā si // 'Did Mohan go?' is answered by /hã/ 'yes' or /nef/ 'no'. Of course, after /ha/ or /nef/ the whole sentence can be repeated. For example, for a 'yes' answer we can say /hã, món giả si # / 'Yes, Mohan did go.'
2 2 3 1
A 'no' answer is /nei, món nei si giả # / 'No, Mohan did not go.' In a 'no answer, /no1/ has to be repeated after /./.

There is always a phrase balance between the question and the answer. Examples:

In an answer, the whole sentence can be repeated or preferably only the emphatic phrase.

3.12.3.1. Following is a list of "K" words and their substitutes in the answer sentences:

"K" Words	Substitutes
/kon/ 'who'	Animate noun or noun phrase
/kera/ 'who'	Animate noun or noun phrase
/krs/ +/postposition	Animate noun or noun phrame + any postposition
/kittho/ 'from where'	/sero/ 'from the city' or
	any other structurally
	equivalent phrase
/kiwe/ 'how'	/ewe/ 'like this' or any ther
	equivaleht phrase
/ki3/ 'why'	/10/ this way or any other
	equivalent phrase

/kiñj/ 'how'	/mij/ this way or any other
	equivalent phrase
/ked/ ~ /ked3/ 'when'	/kel/ 'to:morrow' or any other
	equivalent phrase
/kasa/ - /kió jiá/	/msa/ ~ /éo jiá/ 'of this kind'
'of what kind'	or any other equivalent phræe

3.13. Texts

The following texts from literature and tape recordings demonstrate the structural differences between the spoken and the written varieties of Panjabi. Also, they show the coordination patterns within sentences and paragraphs. Each sentence in these texts is analysed from the point of view of 'phrase structure' and also that of the 'immediate constituents'. The numbers below the phrase markers are the immediate constituent cuts. Number 1 divides the sentence into two constituents - intonation and the sentence without the intonation. Then each successive immediate constituent division is designated by a number one digit higher than the highest adjoining number.

3.13.1. The following dialogue is taken from Sant Singh Sekhon's one-act play 'Mahatma' from the selection 'Che Ghar', published by Lahore Book Shop, Ludhiana, sixth printing, 1950.

'Won't you have some milk?'

/ni/ 'no' is alternate collequial form of /nef/.

'(Yes) I'll drink milk and eat bread as well.

'There isn't any bread at home.'

'I kept a (leaf of) bread for you. Mother gave it to the Sadh.'

'You wretch, you are making him cry.'

'Why are you grumbling?'

'I'll bring (you) some milk.'

*Our mother is very unfair, Dayal.

'In spite of my objections, (she) gave the bread to the Sadh from the Kutia.'

What a mother?

Dayal, have some milk.

'I won't drink milk, I want to eat bread.'

/m/ and /m/ are dialectal variations for /e/ and /e/, the former used in /malwi/, the latter in /maji/.

*Where will I get the bread now?

3.13.2. The following dialogue is taken from Ishwar Chandar Nanda's one-act play 'Eh Dumne' from the selection 'Lishkare', published by Nanda Sahit Bhawan, New Delhi, 1953.

O Shah, can't you talk, why are you pushing me?

'You didn't even let me wet my lips.'

'Well, why do you continue such chatter?'

'Who said you could come to the well?'

"C Shah, what could I do?"

'You were taking a nap in your shop with the doors closed.'

Do you think, I am your father's servant to sit here at mid day and offer you water?

'And Shah, so what if I happened to draw the bucket myself?'

'I was dying of thirst. You can cleanse (it) with fire.'

Cleanse with fire ! '

'Insolent, how he chatters!'

'Why did you get on the well?'

How dare you?

3.13.3. The following paragraph is taken from Mohan Singh Dewana's short story 'Bapu' from the selection 'Parandi', published by Kasturi Lal and Son, Amritsar, 1955.

'Yes, you wish that somebody should come from the Tehsil to give you the notice.'

'You see, Bhai ji, this is all they do.'

'That is why I tell you that even if there a hundred sisters and two hundred brothers, the sons are ruined without mother.'

'It is five years since Banti passed away. I swear. there is not a thing that has gone right.'

'I will die praying to God that if He blesses one with live a wife. He should bless with a wife who should/all his life.'

'(She) shouldn't die before (the husband does), both should breathe their last at one and the same time.'

Both thecalamities (are) of the same magnitude.

/bi/ is of /malwi/ dialect, it corresponds to standard Pandabi /wi/ 'also'.

'If she dies before (the husband dies), it will be a great problem, and if she dies after, then even in heaven (the husband) will be worried what is happening after him.'

'Anyway, whatever the Guru does is all right.'

'Come on. Mohan and Sohan, come here.'

'O Mahne, bring some colored Chadar of yours.'

12. /par ke bena de do langrã, te bén de doã nu # /
$$Vp_1$$
 Vp_2 N_2 N_2 1

Tear it into two and put it on both of them.

'O.K., Bhai Ji, let us go.

3.13.4. The following paragraph is taken from Gurbax Singh's essay 'Taj te Saru' from the selection 'Merian Abhul Yadan', Preet Nagar Press, Preet Nagar, fourth edition, 1954.

1.
$$\sqrt{\frac{2}{\text{perchave}}}$$
 1 legge # /

'The shadows began to fall.'

'There was still light under the Saru.'

But it must been getting dark inside the Taj because the tourists were leaving.

'I thought that if sometimes I lost track of the time while touring around the Taj and the tourists left and all the doors were closed and I was left alone ...'

'My heart beat fast.'

6. /gumbed de enderliä sai hiriä jeriä kebrä

*The royal, jeweled tombs inside the dome were frightening.!

3.13.5. The following text is taken from a tape recording by Daud Rahbar, a native of Lahore.

'Well, there used to be a very big cantonement in Bakloh.'

'In war time, a Gorkha regiment was staying over there.'

'And my eldest brother was a doctor in that regiment.'

'(I) don't know, its name was the Fourth Gorkha Regiment or something like that.

'Anyway, there was an other doctor.'

'The house, they had there, was very big.'

And it had two sections.

'He had one section and in the other section there was another doctor.'

'And he was a traditional military doctor.'

"And I have been to Bakloh a couple of times."

'And that doctor was otherwise a very nice man.'

"I am not sure but probably Doctor Gani was his name."

'And at that place, in Bakloh, he had two buffaloes.'

'The army did not have their own cattle.'

But all of them used to purchase milk from the hill-people.

But as you know, those hill people mix water in it.

'And the colonel of that place came to Doctor Sahib's.'

3.13.6. The following text is taken from a tape recording by Kundan Singh Dhillon, a native of /tetthi khara/,
Tehsil Tarn Taran, District Amritear - twelve miles from Amritear city.

There lived a sparrow and a crow.

And they decided to cook Khichmi.

'And the crow went and brought a grain of Moth.'

'And the sparrow brought a grain of rice.'

They put it(on the stove) for cooking.

'And the sparrow said -'

The crow (is) stronger than I.

And he will eat all of it, and what would I get?

'And the sparrow said, 0 crow, 0 crow !!

'I am cooking. You run and bring some cold water from the well.'

'The grow said, "OK.K., I will bring it."

And the crow went to fetch water.

'The sparrow got the opportunity.'

'After eating everything she couldn't find a place to hide.

'She hid herself in the wheel of the handmill.'

'The crow came from outside.'

When he looked around where the sparrow had gone ... !

'And he was searching all over, but he was unable to find her anywhere.'

'And (he) asked the neighbors.'

'They said, she was here just now.'

'(She) was cooking Khichri.

*And you had just left her. *

'And he carefully looked for the footsteps and the footsteps led him to the handmill.'

'He saw her sitting under the wheel of the handmill.'

'He placed a needle in the fire-place.'

/ti/ is abbreviated form of /ditti/ 'gave'.

When(it) was hot, (he) pushed(it) into her back.

'And the sparrow cried, /cI cI/, my back is burnt.'

'The crow replied, why did (she) eat Khichar of others.'

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Bahal, Kali Charn, <u>Tones in Paniabi</u>, Indian Linguistics, Volume 17. pp. 139-47, 1957.
- Bailey, T. Grahame, <u>Paniabi Manual and Grammar</u>, Calcutta, 1912.

 A Paniabi Phonetic Reader, London, 1913.
- Dewana, Mohan Singh, Panjabi Language and Prosody, Lahore, 1937.

A History of Panjabi Literature.

[doctoral dissertation, Panjab University]
Lahore
first edition, 1933; second edition,
Amritsar, 1956. [both editions published
by the author].

- Gangawala, Haram Singh, <u>Panjabi Vyakarn</u>. [in Panjabi], Amritear.

 1950. [published by the author].
- Gill, Harjeet Singh, <u>Panjabi Tonemics</u>, Anthropological Linguistics,

 Volume 2. No. 6. pp. 11-18. 1960.

 Indiana University.
- Jain, Banarsi Dass, <u>A Phonology of Panjabi and a Ludhiani</u>

 <u>Phonetic Reader</u>, Panjab University, Lahore,
 1934.
- Kartar Singh, <u>Paniabi Vyakarn</u>, [in Panjabi], first edition, Lahore, 1940, second edition, Lahore Book Shop Ludhiana, 1951.
- Tisdall, Wm. St. Clair, Panjabi Language, Calcutta, 1889.